MOLDING MENSCHLICHKEIT

Biblical Values for a One-Room Schoolhouse

Capstone Project, Spring 2014

Completed as part of MARE Degree Requirements Hebrew Union College-New York, School of Education

Table of Contents

Preface	1
Introduction	3
Topic	3
Setting & Audience	4
Rational: The Need for this Curriculum	7
Rationale: The Design of this Curriculum	11
Facilitators: Required Background	16
Literature Review & Potential Resources for Facilitators	18
Design Principles Utilized	22
Desired Results	23
Example Mission Statement of a Congregation	23
Priority Goal for the Religious School Learners	23
Enduring Understandings for the Curriculum	23
Essential Questions	23
Learning Outcomes (KDBB)	24
Assessment	26
Suggested Learning Experience and Instruction	28
Awareness and Inclusion	30
Suggested Classroom Rituals	31
Suggested Course Outline	35
Detailed Lesson Plans	40
Lesson Plan 3: Adam & Eve, Part 1, Genesis 2-3	40
Lesson Plan 6: Cain & Abel, Part 1, Genesis 4-5	48
Lesson Plan 9: Abraham & Sarah, Genesis 18	55
Works Cited	63

Preface

The inspiration for this curriculum stemmed from experience with values education at the URJ's 6 Points Sports Academy and from my love and appreciation for Temple Beth El in Muncie, IN. I served this congregation as their Student Rabbi during the 2012-2013 school year. I am grateful for my experiences at camp that deepened my understanding of values education and the importance of linking Jewish education to that which is relevant in students' lives. I owe Temple Beth El much gratitude for the care, guidance and opportunities they provided me during my year as Student Rabbi and for opening my eyes to a piece of the Jewish world I have never experienced, that of the one-room Jewish schoolhouse. It is my sincerest hope that this curriculum serves Temple Beth El, and other congregations like them, who take on the sacred task of training and guiding HUC students and their own year after year.

This curriculum would not be possible without the guidance I received from within HUC-JIR. I am grateful to all my professors and mentors within the HUC community for helping me grow in my role as an educator for the Jewish community. I would like to especially acknowledge Dr. Evie Rotstein in New York, Dr. Sam Joseph in Cincinnati and Dr. Michael Zelden in Los Angeles, and the entire IT team, for making it possible for my colleagues and me to study in the New York School of Education from the Cincinnati campus. Distance-learning has its challenges, and with your leadership and support, I am able to complete this program. I would also like to extend a special thank you to my Capstone advisor, Dr. Adrianne Leveen, whose insight into Bible and education has deepened the level of learning possible for students in the lessons of the curriculum in the many hours, emails and phone calls to advise from afar and in the brief windows of our New York visits. And finally, to Brian Nelson, my partner in crime here in Cincinnati, and to our many other classmates in New York who provided feedback, sharpened my understanding

of curriculum design and commented on various iterations of this project, may our discussions and collaborations continue well past our days at HUC!

Last, but certainly not least, many thanks to Matthew Sobo, my best friend and very, very soon to be husband, for helping keep me sane through this process, for being a sounding board for ideas and frustrations and for everything else you have done to make this year, and this project, go smoothly. I love you and appreciate all your support!

And one final note to all of those using this curriculum in any means: I hope that it serves well as a guide in your classrooms and schools. I hope that you learn something from the theories and lessons included. And, I welcome your comments, feedback and suggestions for improvement, that the spirit of collaboration continue as we all acknowledge that no curriculum is ever truly finished and must grow and develop with our students and our world.

Introduction

Topic

This curriculum will constitute a year-long course for a religious school in a very small congregation. The curriculum is written as a stand-alone year within the religious school. It will utilize biblical stories from Genesis as a lens for exploring core Jewish values, such as: hospitality, self-control and mindful obedience. An emphasis will be placed on the role of students' parents in the classroom learning environment, as both instructors and learners, as well as on family learning activities and the importance of on-going conversations and practice between sessions (e.g. through homework, that officially assigned and a general commitment to the lessons taught) in order to foster the importance of lifelong learning and a family commitment to a fulfilling Jewish lifestyle.

While this curriculum can be utilized as a single-year within a religious school, it strives to be a model for a multi-year curriculum of four to five years, in which this curriculum would constitute the first year. The following years might focus on the remaining books of the Torah or combine different selections of Jewish texts. Within those years, one might revisit the values introduced in this curriculum to build upon what has already been learned and reflect on the students' and families' progress over time. With either a four- or five-year model, the entire curriculum would be completed approximately twice during a student's tenure. This would allow students to experience both the activities in the younger age-range and revisit the lessons in the older age-range.

¹ Students could study Exodus in year 2, Leviticus & Numbers in year 3, and Deuteronomy in year 4 for a four-year curriculum. One might also combine further, studying the Torah in years 1-3 and Prophets in year 4, and the megillot or other selections from the Wrings (Ketuvim) in year 5, in a five-year model, for example.

Setting & Audience

Students

This curriculum is intended for use in a supplementary religious school at a small congregation with only one teacher and with parents who are willing and able to participate in the program on a regular basis as instructors and learners. Ideally, students will range in age from grades 1-7 (*b'nei mitzvah* year). The specific lessons provided will assume one cluster of students in a lower age group and one cluster of students that are older. Any given congregation can adjust the lessons to the needs of its students and families. Teenage students (post *b'nei mitzvah*) in the school might opt to either learn with the students and/or help facilitate learning among the younger students, whichever is appropriate for the particular school and student.

Sessions

The curriculum is structured as sixteen sessions of an hour and a half each, presumably on a Sunday morning. It is limited to an hour and half each to leave time for other parts of a religious education. The full school day's structure might include a short break (snack) followed by Hebrew language study, a short *t'filah* at the beginning or end of the day and/or additional elements that fit with the congregation's goals for its learners and the congregation's resources. Depending on the schedule for the surrounding day, a school might opt to insert a short break into the lessons, especially for the younger students.

The sixteen session outline is designed to work well in any of several scheduling models. It might serve as a one-semester curriculum in a school that meets every week or expanded to include additional sessions throughout the year. More likely it could serve as a year-long course in schools that meet on a bi-weekly basis.² In schools that meet monthly, lessons might be

² This is designed to be compatible with HUC-Cincinnati's pulpit guidelines for bi-weekly pulpits, which dictate 16-18 visits for students to the congregation, which generally translates to about 16 sessions of religious school.

combined into longer sessions, units might be omitted, or the sessions might be spread over two years to create a fitting model. An additional optional lesson is included to allow more flexibility to the curriculum. All lessons, topics, values and activities should be taken as suggestions and can be adapted to fit the needs of the school.

Greater Community

This curriculum assumes that children are living in an area where they are one of the only Jews in their other social groups: school, athletics, and other extra-curricular activities. This assumption is important because it means that students' "Jewish" lives are often viewed as separate from the "rest" of their lives. These students are not necessarily consciously forming their Jewish identities in these other realms of their life and do not have Jewish role models outside of the home and synagogue. Furthermore, students are often seen as the "other". Their otherness can limit a student's ability to ask the religious questions that they might have outside of the congregational community or their family. In addition, these students might also experience mild negative behavior towards their Jewishness,³ and almost definitely experience ignorance on the part of the greater community.⁴ The curriculum therefore strives to create a safe space for the questions and concerns students have, as well as provide role models of other adults and older students. Although not a written goal of the curriculum, one can aspire to aid students in building positive Jewish experiences that will further the construction of a strong Jewish identity that can withstand the challenges of their day to day lives.

-

³ I hesitate to go so far as calling it anti-Semitism

⁴ Such as teachers who insist that Passover is because the Jews "passed over" the Red Sea and marked off points on a seventh grade student's world religions test in Muncie, IN. This same student was bullied by a peer who insisted that nobody would sit with him (factually incorrect) because he was a "f---ing Jew." Unfortunately for this student, these examples are not extraordinary; he has dozens of them, as do other students.

Budget & Technology

Finally, since the intended use of this curriculum is in very small congregations, this curriculum strives to work within a limited budget and without special materials wherever possible. A congregation with a larger religious school budget can certainly supplement activities with additional resources and materials. Likewise, since not all congregations have access to internet and technology within the school, the three sample lessons in this curriculum refrain from using technology and online resources in the lessons themselves, but leave room for online resources in the homework assignments, such as posting journal entries to a class website or forum. A congregation that does have access to these resources is encouraged to include technology and online resources to deepen learning.

Rational: The Need for this Curriculum

The need for this curriculum results from the nature of the religious schools that it intends to serve. The curricular resources available to small congregations for reference or implementation are limited. Few of these resources readily apply to the very small congregations that this curriculum targets. Furthermore, there is a high turnover of educational leadership in the schools that leads to inconsistency in curriculum and curricular goals. Using this curriculum as part of a multi-year curriculum would promote consistency across years. As a stand-alone year, it provides a model and record for the next year.

Congregational Need

While there are resources available for "small congregations" from the Union for Reform Judaism (URJ) those resources may not be sufficient for the congregations intended by this curriculum. The definition of "small congregations" according to the URJ is any congregation of 150 membership units or less (URJ Small Congregations, n.d.). The congregations that I have served as a Student Rabbi, and many that my colleagues on the Cincinnati campus have served, are significantly smaller than 150 membership units, including many under 50 membership units. Often the resources for small congregations are insufficient for their needs, as even these resources assume a critical mass of people and resources that the targeted congregations do not have. This holds true especially for their religious schools.

On account of the average overall size, it is not surprising that the congregations that Cincinnati-based rabbinical students serve tend to have very small religious schools. In my personal experience, the congregations have had less than ten students and only one class.⁵ On the

⁵ The first congregation I served (Meir Chayim in McGehee, AR) restarted during that year after a long lapse. The school consisted of four students, ages 3-9, and one teacher, myself, and met less than once/month. The second congregation I have served (Temple Beth El in Muncie, IN) grew to seven students, ages 3-12, with one teen madrichah, and two special-needs students.

basis of conversations with my colleagues in Cincinnati, this is true for many of the congregations that we serve. From my personal experience, and from related experiences of other rabbinical students, this poses an interesting challenge to students, teachers and families in the congregation. These congregations must strive to engage all students at a level that is appropriate for them, with limited resources and often only one teacher. Running multiple lessons simultaneously could lead to losing the capacity to provide the guidance and individual attention that students need. At the same time, the limited enrollment, when viewed as an opportunity, enables unique benefits, especially under the one-room schoolhouse model described below, that allow for the individual attention and guidance for students and differentiated learning that allows students to excel to the best of their abilities.

Lack of Appropriate Existing Curricula

There are curricula in existence that are advertised as being compatible for small congregations. I have heard from congregational board members that other options are expensive or for congregations with larger religious schools than they have, or have a focus different from what the congregation is seeking for its religious school. This often leaves Student Rabbis implementing a curriculum designed for select grades with the whole school. In such a case the concern for developmental appropriateness is obvious, as the curriculum would be inappropriate for many, if not most, of the students. Alternatively, the Student Rabbi is allowed to teach what they wish, with whatever guidelines or stipulations the congregation gives. In this model, concerns for developmental appropriateness still arise, as well as concerns for the alignment of the curriculum within a year and certainly across years.

CHAI Curriculum

The URJ's Chai curriculum is one option that very small congregations attempt to use.

One main issue with the Chai curriculum is that it assumes a critical mass of students in each grade.

On the Chai curriculum's website (found within the URJ's website) there are guidelines for the curriculum that it can be used for multi-age classrooms (Chai Curriculum, n.d.). In a list of guiding questions, the website suggests as a question to consider: "Will you combine two grades together or even three?" This inherently implies that the Chai curriculum is likely not appropriate for more than three grades combined together, especially with its levels loosely created with certain ages in mind. While two or three grade groupings might fit the needs of congregations in some years, it can quickly become inappropriate in a subsequent year. For example, Temple Beth El, of Muncie IN, used Level 4 with a group of boys in late elementary school taught by a parent for a couple years. However, one year significantly younger students joined the school, making the use of Level 5 inappropriate for all students in the school under the instruction of a single volunteer parent. Therefore, Chai might be used as a guide or on a temporary basis in very small congregations, but is not the best long-term option for those schools which do not have the minimum number of students in clumped grades, teachers and/or and other resources (funding, space, etc.) to do so.

ISJL Curriculum

The Institute for Southern Jewish Life (ISJL) also has a curriculum. Many of the congregations that the ISJL serves are small congregations. The ISJL's curriculum is a spiral model, with lessons for every grade and many resources for the congregations. The curriculum includes lesson plans, teacher trainings, and three community visits for consultations per year (ISJL, n.d.). This model is useful for congregations that are within the range served by the ISJL that can make use of the trainings, seminars and community visits in addition to the written lesson plans. However, these lesson plans, like Chai, are designed for specific grades in progression. Like Chai, they could presumably be grouped and rotated within 2-3 grade clusters. Thus posing similar challenges as the Chai curriculum in terms of use and age-appropriate

instruction. In addition to the issues of use in a one-room schoolhouse that Chai has, this curriculum is, according to one congregant, too expensive for use in their congregation.

Educational Leadership Turnover

The challenge of building a curriculum for a small number of students is further compounded in student congregations because of the high turn-over of teachers in the schools. Some congregations have religious school principals or chairs, others do not have a designated role of this sort. Some congregations allow parents of a religious school children the opportunity of serving as principal while their children are in school, but pass the torch to another parent as their children age out of the school. This leaves most principals in the role for a handful of years, leaving just when they have gained a fair amount of experience. When the torch of teacher and principal is passed, often the obtained knowledge and curriculum used is not passed along in an organized fashion. The congregations therefore often do not have the benefit of veteran principals and/or teachers (with the specific students at the school). This curriculum therefore seeks to provide an example of good curriculum for a year that might be used as a basis for future years as well, in addition to being an aligned curriculum for the year provided.

-

⁶ Student Rabbis are only allowed to stay with a congregation for a maximum of two school years according to the Student Ministrations Committee (SMC) guidelines and HUC requirements. Other religious schools are served by local college students and/or parent volunteers and experience similar turnover.

Rationale: The Design of this Curriculum

This curriculum is created around two guiding models: values based education and a one-room schoolhouse model. By utilizing these models, the curriculum will address the concerns addressed above and might also aid in solving ancillary issues among the congregations, including, but not limited to, perceived repetition and inconsistency.

Values-Based Education

In a nutshell, the Values-based Education model is a theory of education in which focus is applied not only to the content being taught, but on the development of character in students. Under this model, a math teacher is no longer responsible for "just" math, but also whole-person development. The whole-person learning comes through an emphasis on identifying values and consciously incorporating them into instruction and the overall culture of the school.

The decision to follow a values-based model came from the advice of the congregational president of Temple Beth El (Muncie, IN), a congregation of less than 30 membership units. For their congregation, one of the most important aspects of education is *not as* focused on "covering X amount of topics/material," but rather focused on guiding children to live according to Jewish ethical behavior (Eliades, 2013). These two categories are certainly not mutually exclusive, since the texts of Jewish tradition are the source of our ethics, but there is a clear recognition of the ultimate emphasis on raising students to lead Jewish lives as adults and remain active members of their Jewish communities. The school is thus focused on giving students the tools necessary to continue their development as Jews well past the *b'nei mitzvah* year. On the basis of this desired emphasis, this curriculum takes a modified values-based education approach which will focus on learning how to embody Jewish values by learning how to talk about those values and apply them in real life settings (International Values-based Education Trust, n.d.).

To facilitate real-life applicability and a situation for practicing values outside of school, a strong emphasis will be placed on family learning activities. Parts of the lessons will include only the students as the designated learners⁷ so that they have an opportunity to bond as a group and learn on an age-appropriate level, while other parts of the lessons will involve students' families to show a commitment to lifelong learning and help foster the family's Jewish identity together as a whole and not just the sum of the parts. The multi-generational learning will also provide a context for adults to practice and model the values they wish to inspire in their children.

Values-based education can help improve self-esteem and self-worth, as well as a sense of responsibility for one's own learning (International Values-based Education Trust, n.d.). Through the values-based education approach, students will thrive by developing a sense of pride and ownership of their Judaism as they move towards adulthood while also acquiring a base of Jewish knowledge. This will be reflected in the modeling that will occur through the year by teachers, parents/families, madrichim and older students as they work together to create a safe space in which students (and families) can bring their questions and learn about their Judaism. Quality relationships are essential to the academic success of children, and to their sense of agency, belonging and competence (Search Institute: Developmental Relationships, n.d.). This type of nurturing relationship can be found within most families. This curriculum seeks to build upon those relationships and use them to foster a sense of accomplishment among students.

One Room Schoolhouse Model

While many might bemoan low enrollment in religious schools and see the one room schoolhouse model as an antiquated topic best left for *Little House on the Prairie*, there is a resurgence in educational reform discussions of small school and one-room schoolhouse models,

⁷ During these parts, parents may be asked to lead the learning activity. The parents will be learning with their children as they teach, but the students will be the primary target of the learning activities.

even in urban areas where larger schools exist easily and there is no logistical need for a small school. When used for its strengths, there are several benefits to students and families that emerge from the one-room schoolhouse model. Learning can be individually tailored to their needs and preferences. Students develop interpersonal skills that will benefit them throughout their life. Families can benefit from the close community. The nature of the small school also leads to a sense of joint responsibility and intimacy among the whole community.

Student learning can be individually tailored to student's needs and preferences. The oneroom schoolhouse model allows for focus on an individual student's need, with the flexibility to group a student according to current ability in a particular area without the appearance of "skipping grades" or "demoting" students (Greenberg, 1989). This allows students to be successful according to their ability in the classroom without stigma and without the need for special exemptions and placements. While in public schools this may mean a fifth grader doing middle school level math, in religious school this gives more freedom to provide information and activities at the level of a particular student, rather than at the level of "classroom textbooks," as larger schools use. This also means there is flexibility to group students with slightly older or slightly younger students, for both academic reasons and to encourage cooperation and interpersonal growth. Through differentiated learning, wherein content, process and/or product are modified to students' needs and abilities, this can be accomplished (Huebner, 2010). In dividing students into two groups, as the suggested lessons do, there will still be a variety in students' ability within the groups. It will be important for facilitators of the curriculum to keep this in mind and modify their instruction and assessment based on students' abilities.

Students develop interpersonal skills that will benefit them throughout their life. Professor Andrew Gulliford, of Fort Lewis College in Durango, Colorado is a leading expert on one-room

schools. He promotes the effectiveness of the one-room schoolhouse model for developing ego, character, personality and interpersonal skills for those in small schools (Wilgoren, 2000). With the greater adult to student ratio, and presumably a higher amount of individual attention provided by adults, students' interpersonal skills and moral development can more readily be assessed and reinforced by the teacher. Those actions might be missed or overlooked in the busy classroom of a larger school, were ratios are lower and age-ranges are smaller.

Families can benefit from the close community. Gulliford mentions, both historically and still today, how the one-room schoolhouse serves as a small scale community center for its families: where they can hold meetings, vote, have fundraisers and celebrations (Gulliford, 1991, p. 35). While many of these communal functions are served by a congregation, regardless of the religious school's presence, even in small congregations, the religious school families create an embedded community within the larger congregational community. This relationship building between families provides additional support and opportunity for establishing, and promotes continuation of moral education and increases the number of role models and mentors for students.

The nature of the small school also leads to a sense of joint responsibility and intimacy among the whole community. The tailored lessons and the inherent sense of responsibility for their own learning that students develop allows them to learn and understand concepts, instead of regurgitating information and "right answers" for a test (Deam, 2011). Pat Graham of a public one-room schoolhouse in Mt. Hamilton, CA speaks to the fact that her classroom can "create lifelong learners and not just kids who know the answers" (Rocheleau, 2003, p. 189). In addition to a learner's own responsibility for their learning, students develop a sense of responsibility to the community. In the American public one-room schoolhouses, students were often in charge of the basic upkeep of their school: if students did not sweep, dust, etc. the schoolhouse would be dirty.

Everyone in the community must come together to ensure the functionality of the schoolhouse, otherwise the schoolhouse would fall into disarray (Rocheleau, 2003, p. 124). In the same way, in a small congregation, there is likely not a hired custodian or other staff to help clean the classroom. Students will therefore develop a sense that these mundane tasks are not below them, and that their own responsibilities for tasks such as cleaning a chalkboard or caring for the space around them is just as important as the other lessons of the day.

The inherent caveat to this model is that in order for the one-room schoolhouse model to work, the teacher needs to be aware of their students, prepared for lessons, creative and flexible. Teaching in a one-room school is not an easy task. For this reason, the detailed lessons described in this curriculum, will provide examples of activities and strives to give alternatives (through different means and materials based on student needs and desires). The activities in these lessons should be seen as suggestions and must be adapted to the particular setting in which they will be used.

Solving Consistency Issues

This curriculum aspires to provide a concrete overall topic of study to help formalize the curriculum for congregations as a model of what might be done in other years, which might explore different topics. Over the course of these years, the threads of community-building and values based education will create consistency while broadening the base of knowledge through different topics studied. This should result in making completion of the religious school upon the *b'nei mitzvah* year a meaningful accomplishment for both students and families.

Facilitators: Required Background

To be as successful as possible, facilitators, ideally, will need both a background in Judaic knowledge and human development as well as a firm understanding of the content of the lessons. The facilitator must also have, or be able to quickly gain, an understanding of every child in the program, their strengths and weaknesses and their ability level and interpersonal skills. This will help the facilitator determine how each student might respond to lessons and how to appropriate give responsibility for learning to their students.

The facilitator will also need to assess the strengths and weaknesses of madrichim, if available, to determine how to establish their role among the rest of the students in the class, especially considering that madrichim were likely also students alongside the very students they are being asked to help teach. Depending on the structure of the school and the number of students, this transition could be challenging for madrichim and the students alike. The educator will serve as a guide in this transition for madrichim.

Information about students and madrichim might be gained in one or more different ways. It would be helpful for formal or informal "progress reports" to be made for each student. These files might be kept by the religious school principal or another trusted member of the community to pass on to teachers from year to year. Such a written lesson plan will help provide a sense of the progress of students, but should be understood to be subjective reports by those who wrote the evaluations. In addition to written records of some sort, it is highly encouraged that an incoming educator or educational leadership meet with the current (or outgoing) members of the school's leadership wherever possible. In some religious schools it may even be possible for an incoming educator to meet with families prior to the beginning of the religious school year (on a first visit to a student pulpit, e.g.).

The facilitator will also need to rely on parents as a crucial part of the success of the curriculum. The parents (and any madrichim) who will be helping implement the curriculum should receive some training from the facilitator prior to the beginning of the year as to the expectations and resources available to them. The facilitator should also find times to meet with the parents throughout the year to provide guidance and further training and feedback as necessary. Constant communication with parents will be necessary for preparing for lessons and to maintain a two-directional feedback loop for their children.

Literature Review & Potential Resources for Facilitators

The following resources may be helpful for facilitators of this curriculum. The resources that are asterisked (*) are highly recommended, generally as the more concise and informative works in each category. The remainder of the resources generally provide deeper insight into the topic or further supplemental reading.

Resources on Child Development

*Chip Wood, *Yardsticks: Children in the Classroom Ages 4-14*. Northeast Foundation for Children (2007)

Yardsticks provides a specific listing of average developmental place and tasks by age from age 4 to 14. With its brief chapters on each age, divided by developmental progress, tasks and what the age-group benefits most from in the classroom, this is a good quick-reference for the specific children in a given classroom. A teacher might use this to get a vague sense of where children are before the year starts (if they have not met them previously) or as a reminder of what might be age-appropriate for given students throughout the school-year.

Teresa McDevitt and Jeanne Ormrod, *Child Development and Education*. Merrill (2010 Provides information on the theories of child development, divided by categories of development instead of by age. This book provides a deeper understanding of the theories behind child development, as opposed to a specific list of abilities and needs. This depth can facilitate a teacher in understanding where and how to determine if a child is ahead or behind what is supposedly "normal" for their age, by identifying children in stages rather than age-groups and looking at arcs of development instead of points on the arc individually.

Resources on One-Room Schoolhouses

Andrew Gulliford, *America's Country Schools*, Preservation Print (1991)

Gulliford provides a thorough history of American public one-room schoolhouses. He describes the interaction of the school and the community, the schools' role in history and the current nature of the near 1,000 one-room public schools that remain today. This provides insight into how the schools function and why their students (and families) are still fighting to keep the schools open among pressure for consolidation to larger schools.

Wayne Fuller, One-Room Schools of the Middle West, University of Kansas (1994)

Paul Rocheleau, "The One-Room Schoolhouse Today" in *The One-Room Schoolhouse: A Tribute to a Beloved National Icon*.

Rocheleau's chapter gives an outside perspective on six different existing one-room

schoolhouses for their unique characteristics and styles. This provides insight into how the nature and context of a school influence the teaching and learning that occur within its walls, which can be translated by the religious school educator to create the best one-room model for their context.

*Stephen Swidler, Naturally Small: Teaching and Learning in the Last One-Room Schools.

Swidler notes that in the world of educational reform, there is little to no appropriate critical study of the naturally occurring small and/or one-room school. He conducts two years of field research in rural Nebraska at two one-room schools, providing detailed description of the teaching and learning found in these two schools. He concludes, there are likely no generalizations possible across all one-room or small schools, but that these schools can "enable ambitious kinds of instruction" while "intertwining the community's values" (113, 114). Although he works with a limited sample, he shows how the close relationship between teacher, students and community can foster deeper learning and thinking in students in a way that larger (and graded) schools cannot that likely generalizes to most one-room schools.

Deam, J. (2011, June 12). A one-room school fit for 21st century. *LA Times*. Retrieved from articles.latimes.com.

Gives an example of a one-room public school (one of 200 in the country at the time) in Decker, Mont, where teacher Creighton Teter is able to tailor lessons to his nine students and gives personal insight into the unique benefits and challenges of working in a non-traditional (graded) school. The students' achievements seem to speak to the success of the school.

Wilgoren, J. (2000, August 6). The One-Room Schoolhouse. *The New York Times*. Retrieved from nytimes.com.

Teacher Linda Borntrager and her school provide an account of another one-room school, with the added skills that students learn within the school, such as flexibility and a higher focus on interpersonal skills. The parents comment that students develop better study skills than their graded-school counterparts, which are chalked up to individual attention and tailoring of lessons.

Kaesshaefer, M. Tales from a one-room schoolhouse.

http://www.scholastic.com/teachers/article/tales-one-room-schoolhouse

Provides an interview format insight into a 15-student school in rural Nevada. This article gives an additional example of a modern one-room schoolhouse in rural Nevada. The teacher, Lyn, speaks more than some of the other sources about how she uses technology in the classroom (including a SMART board). Lyn provides advice as to the

"rules she swears by" in teaching a one-room schoolhouse that can easily be adapted to the religious school classroom.

*Rabbi Julie Greenberg, Surviving in the One-Room Schoolhouse in *Reconstructing Jewish Education: A Process Guide*, 1989.

This article by Rabbi Greenberg discusses the advantages of the one-room school in a religious school setting (not a public school setting). She agrees with the sentiments of those found in the public schools, and adds that the one-room schoolhouse provides a closer approximation to the full community than a single-grade classroom does. She provides some specific suggestions that relate to a Jewish setting and some general ideas for teachers working in mixed-age and mixed-ability groups of students.

Resources on Values Based Learning & Teaching Values

International Values-Based Education Trust, valuesbasededucation.com

This website provides an introduction to values-based education. The website includes articles, videos, suggestions and examples of values-based education in use as well as materials and further materials and research findings.

*Neil Hawkes, *What is Values-based Education?* http://www.values-education.com/downloads/what is pdf

Neil Hawkes provides a summary of values-based education, most of which is reiterated from the website above in a short and informative article. He describes the basis for values-based education as well as key aspects and emphases of the model and its power within the educational setting.

Susan Freeman, *Teaching Jewish Virtues*, Berman House Publishing (1999)

This book contains chapters on many different Jewish values. Each chapter contains a variety of texts, resources, discussion questions and suggested activities for different ages and modalities related to the resources in the chapter. These activities can be used as is in the lessons of this curriculum or adapted to meet the needs of the congregation.

Barbara Kadden and Bruce Kadden, *Teaching Mitzvot*, ARE Publishing (2003)

Similar to the *Teaching Jewish Virtues* volume, this book provides similar resources around various mitzvot in Judaism. While not all of the chapters apply to the given curriculum, several of the values addressed in this curriculum are also explicit mitzvot in the Jewish tradition and are considered in this volume.

Resources for Teaching Bible to Children

Chaya Burstein, *The Kids' Cartoon Bible*, Jewish Publication Society (2002)

This volume contains very short, highly illustrated versions of many Biblical stories, though is somewhat selective in its stories. The cartoons for each story seem to give the "highlights" of stories and the main facts, while leaving much of the detail to the imagination or to the illustrations. It would most likely be good to use as supplementary for older children.

Seymour Rossel, *A Child's Bible: Lesson from the Torah*, Behrman House (1988)

This volume has about a two-page story for many of the major biblical stories, but not all of them. There are one-page illustrations included with each story, and the font is bigger. In addition, each story is followed by a few pages of activities and questions that might be used in the classroom and/or for discussion. This would be more readily used with younger children of reading age, or to be read to them. While this curriculum does not utilize the follow-up activities and questions as is, they might be adapted into use during the lessons or for homework/preparation before class.

*Ellen Frankel, JPS Illustrated Children's Bible, Jewish Publication Society (2009)

This volume contains most major biblical stories in about two to three pages with a one-page illustration accompanying each story. The stories are fairly accurate to the biblical text, omitting details that bog down the story for younger children and replacing exact translation for phrases and vocabulary more age appropriate to younger children. This volume would be good for use reading to the younger children or even for the older children in stories where the biblical text gets overly technical.

Design Principles Utilized

Nurtures Relationships and Community

This curriculum stresses the relationship both between students and between students and other adults in the congregation/religious school. In order for very small congregations to survive, they must recognize the importance of a close-knit, caring community (that usually describes the community). Students will benefit from being raised in a close community and will hopefully develop a desire to give back to that community as they grow older.

Speaks to Questions of Real Life

Judaism has to be relevant and applicable for any Jew, but particularly for a student who might feel that they have to defend being Jewish to a friend or public school-teacher. In order for the goal of gaining applicability in real life, the curriculum must speak to real life for its students.

Time for Reflection

Students need time to think and reflect on what they are learning in order to fully process and internalize the values. Values cannot be taught in a day, or a couple sessions. It takes a lifetime of practice to perfect the values that Judaism teaches us to embody. Our students are on the beginning of this path and need time to process their successes and their failures.

Radical Empathy

This curriculum strives to imagine the lives of the students who might engage in its lessons so that it is the most appropriate and understanding for them and will meet them where they are. This curriculum strives to allow students to be integral to themselves and meet them where they are currently.

Desired Results

Example Mission Statement of a Congregation

Our congregation seeks to form bonds between members that span generations and embrace Judaism and lifelong learning in a warm and caring environment while living strong Jewish lives. Our members can connect with one another in a way that can only be achieved in a small synagogue. We strive to reach out to our surrounding community while performing Tikkun Olam; we actively participate in the community. We foster and nurture our love and support for Israel. Above all, we are an accepting congregation. We welcome Jews from all walks of life as well as interfaith families.⁸

Priority Goal for the Religious School Learners

The religious school seeks to instill Jewish values and ethics in our children to help them live strong Jewish lives and feel a sense of pride towards their Jewish identity.

Enduring Understandings for the Curriculum

- 1. The Bible and our tradition teach values we must actively practice on an on-going basis.
- 2. Being Jewish is a source of pride.
- 3. Jewish learning is a lifelong process, it does not end at b'nei mitzvah.

Essential Questions

- 1. What importance does the Bible hold for me as a Jew?
- 2. What values does the Bible teach me?
- 3. What does it mean to be Jewish today?
- 4. What does it mean to be a part of this congregation? Class?

⁸ Based on the stated mission and introduction on the website of Temple Beth El (Muncie, IN)

Learning Outcomes (KDBB)

Know

Learners will be able to identify and explain core Jewish values and different ways of applying them in their own context.

While it is impossible to "teach" a value in a short time-frame, this curriculum will seek to introduce students to values in order that students can begin their path of practicing them daily. Each value will be introduced through a biblical story. Students will study that story through the lens of the value, and continue with their study of the value on an age-appropriate level over the course of the "unit" on that value/story. Learners will relate to biblical role models and be able to articulate how their own behavior is or is not emulating the actions of the biblical hero.

Do

Learners will apply Jewish values and teachings to real life situations and be able to identify these values in others' behavior.

With the strong emphasis on Jewish action, the ultimate goal of the curriculum is to have students aspire to embody the values taught in the curriculum in their daily lives. Students will examine how they are already embodying the values studied and where they can further embody those values in their day to day behavior.

Belong

Learners will relate to role models biblical or real-life (peers, madrichim and family members) who share their own experiences trying to apply Torah to their lives.

In order for students to develop a lasting connection to Judaism, they must relate to other Jews. While a long-term relationship would be hard to create or assess in a short timeframe, the individual relationships with those in the classroom can be a priority for facilitators.

Believe/Value

Learners will explore how embodying Jewish values can enrich their lives and the challenges posed by these same values. Learners will explore the benefit of their relationship to other Jews (*Am Yisrael*) while learning to apply Jewish values in their own lives, and while making ethical decisions.

While a facilitator cannot impose a belief that the core values taught are important in students, it is possible to assess their thinking about these values. Learning should be focused on the goal of enhancing students' thinking around these topics as much as around fostering specific behaviors or trends of behavior among students.

Assessment

Know

Learners will be able to identify and explain core Jewish values and different ways of applying them in their own context.

A possible means of assessing this outcome would be for students to define or explain the value in their own words. Younger students might be asked to give examples, older students might be asked to create a plan to embody/implement the value.

Do

Learners will apply Jewish values and teachings to real life situations and be able to identify these values in others' behavior.

Students will first be asked to identify the value in another person's behavior. Students will then create a plan or suggestion as to situations in their own lives in which the value might be demonstrated. Finally, students will enact the value in their own behavior and be able to describe why their behavior was an example of the value. While the first steps in this assessment will be part of the introduction and exploration of the value in class, a possible means of assessing the final step, personal implementation, might be to have older students maintain a journal (or similar format) between sessions identifying both when they saw the value enacted and when they embodied the value themselves, with an explanation as to why the specific behavior identified demonstrated the value. Younger students might be asked to complete an activity with their families that embraces the value and explain why it fits that particular value, instead of in a written form. If technology is available students might be able to use photos, video clips or audio clips to represent their values-

Belong

Learners will relate to role models (madrichim and family members) who share their own experiences trying to apply Torah to their lives.

A possible means of assessment for this outcome would be to observe interactions between students and their role models. One might also ask students in what situations they might consult their role models for help or advice. They might even create a profile of their role models as to how to they embody the values the student finds important.

Believe/Value

Learners will explore how embodying Jewish values can enrich their lives and the challenges posed by these same values. Learners will explore the benefit of their relationship to other Jews (*Am Yisrael*) while learning to apply Jewish values in their own lives, and while making ethical decisions.

A possible means of assessment for students' beliefs and relationship with the core values being taught might be to have students add to their journals or reflections on the place of Jewish values in their lives and their connection to other Jews. A facilitator might also be able to observe students gravitating towards their role models beyond class time (such as at other congregational or communal events).

Suggested Learning Experience and Instruction

This curriculum is structured around values and group learning. Students will be grouped into multi-age groups where they can work together and build interpersonal skills. Working in small groups and in a small classroom will provide opportunities for individualized learning and cooperative learning, and should allow for constructivist teaching and student-driven learning activities. Learning activities will involve older students teaching or working with younger students, which can allow for students to gravitate towards their personal learning styles.

In an effort to involve families in learning, students might "present" their learning not just to the other students in the class, but also to the parents/families as well. In other areas, especially in a bi-weekly schedule, students might be given homework tasks to deepen their understanding in various areas in which their families might be asked to engage in the activity with the student.

Transformation into a Multi-Year Curriculum & the Selection of Genesis Texts

To facilitate this curriculum being used as the first of a four or five year curriculum, the focus of the scripted lesson plans is on the Book of Genesis. Additional years could focus on the other books of the Bible in order and/or other Biblical or Rabbinic texts, as suggested previously. Among the variety of options for textual focus, Genesis was selected as the beginning (always a good place to start), and as a book that is very conducive to story-telling, which is suitable for multi-age groups (Rosman, 1990). This story-model can be used with the other books of the Bible, and certainly with elements of Midrash and other Rabbinic texts, as well as Chassidic stories. This curriculum suggests interspersing some of these additional sources into the lessons to provide a survey of Jewish sources, especially if the entire curriculum focuses on Biblical texts, but their study as a whole is not explicit in this particular curriculum.

Incorporation of other Educational Elements

As mentioned in the introduction, this curriculum is intended to serve as the Judaic component of a religious school education. It is highly recommended to complement this curriculum with additional Hebrew language study and t'filah experiences. To link these "parts" of the day together, the educator might opt to highlight the value of study in t'filah prior to or following the learning. Hebrew instruction might include reinforcement of the vocabulary used in the lessons as well.

Assumed Facilities

The provided lessons assume that parents actively participate in learning alongside and with their students. It assumes that there is a location on site that the parents can meet with each other, discuss and prepare as well as where they or the madrichim can take the younger students when they are working with them. That is, that there is a second classroom, a part of a classroom, a social hall, etc. to aid in dividing up the groups. If this is not the case, the facilitator can decide to keep the group together (developmental appropriateness permitting), or create a yeshiva-like atmosphere in the space that one has.

Awareness and Inclusion

The individualization of the curriculum makes it particularly conducive to diverse learners. The one-room schoolhouse model automatically resolves some developmental issues because students are not grouped directly by age or grade as they are in many traditional schools, thus eliminating a need to "demote" or "hold back" students. Should a student be often grouped similar to younger students of a similar ability level, the stigma is removed by the constant regroupings of students for different lessons and projects, and by older students working with younger students on a regular basis. Movement-based and physical limitations are also easily included in this curriculum, again because of the individualization required.

Suggested Classroom Rituals

Classroom rituals are important for establishing a routine within the classroom. Such a routine is important with young students to ease anxiety as they will know what to expect each session when they arrive. The classroom rituals suggested to complement the lessons provided, and are included in the given lessons, include: beginning class with a "morning meeting," including the blessing for study at the beginning of the day, including a moral dilemma in each sessions discussion, and an exit ticket at the end of the day. Any selection of these and/or other rituals that fit with the particular school should also be considered. Some additional rituals beyond the scope of this curriculum, but that might help link to it include: adding t'filah to the religious school day and learning the Hebrew for each value discussed or other related Hebrew words.

Morning Meeting

The "Morning Meeting" is an element from the Responsive Classroom model. Responsive Classroom suggests that the Morning Meeting is a "tool for building community, increasing student investment, and improving academic and social skills" and consists of a greeting, sharing, group activity and morning message (Morning Meeting Components, n.d.). This curriculum recommends modifying this model as a morning check-in for students. It allows students to practice hospitality and active listening as they greet each other in the morning and share *simchas* and sorrows before the day begins. This sharing may also influence how the educator approaches a student or topic during the session. The group can then continue with the blessing for study (or begin the meeting with the blessing for study). This morning meeting can transition into the set induction for the session. One might also include a discussion of the moral dilemma as the set induction for each session in this meeting time.

Blessing for Torah Study

The "Morning Meeting" would be an excellent place for the blessing for Torah study as the group begins its learning for the day. If the blessing is included in a *t'filah* prior to the curriculum, then one might choose not to repeat it here (or to move the Morning Meeting/checkin prior to *t'filah*). The blessing for study is as follows:

Baruch atah Adonai, Eloheinu Melech Haolam,

asher kidshanu b'mitzvotav v'tzivanu la'asok b'divrei Torah.

Blessed are You Adonai, our God, Sovereign of the Universe, who makes us holy through God's Mitzvot and commands us to engage in the words of Torah.

Moral Dilemma

Moral dilemmas are situations that generally provide a conflict between two different values. They have no single correct answer and students will often have differing opinions on how to resolve the conflict. In posing a moral dilemma, students are asked to think about values in a concrete way while considering the abstract nature of the values' weight in their lives and how to handle potential moral dilemmas in their own lives. The idea of the moral dilemma is for students to articulate what values are at conflict. For younger students, they might express these in the form of concrete examples, whereas one might encourage older students to think more abstractly about the specific example. In the following curricular guide a possible moral dilemma related to the value at hand and/or the biblical story to be studied is provided. The educator might choose to use this dilemma or devise their own. The educator will likely want to expand the short description

into a brief story to flesh out the situation for younger students and/or give an opportunity for students to ask clarifying questions.

Since each student will have an individual answer, at a different depth of thought there are a few different models that might be useful based on the students. You might pose the dilemma and have students of similar ages go into *chevruta* to discuss, or discuss as a larger group. The educator might opt to have students write a response in a journal that can be returned to later in the year or session; this could be in addition to conversation or in place of a conversation. Either way, students should be encouraged to give reasoning for their responses. Students' responses should become more thoughtful and expressive of values as the year progresses.

The educator should select a time during the session to pose the moral dilemma. One might choose to include the moral dilemma as a set induction at the end of the Morning meeting or other morning ritual to set the tone for the day. This is the placement of the moral dilemma in the provided lesson plans. Alternatively, one might choose to end the session with the moral dilemma as a wrap-up to the discussion. The educator can then assess if there are elements of the session influencing students' thinking on the dilemma.

Exit Ticket

The "exit ticket" is a teaching technique that provides quick feedback to the educator at the end of a session. They are usually 1-3 questions about the lesson of the day that varying between assessing key concepts (Define a vocabulary term) to summative questions or reflective questions (What did you have the most trouble with, what is one question/idea you want to think more about). The educator might choose to use the same prompts each session so that students know what to

expect or to use similar type questions each session, but not necessarily the same question. The moral dilemma might consist of the exit ticket or a part thereof.

Suggested Course Outline

This outline suggests two sessions per unit (biblical story). The story and concepts might be introduced during the first session and in the second session one might reflect on practice during the time between sessions and deepen understanding of the values.

Sessions 1 & 2: Creation (Genesis 1-2)

Potential Value(s):

- Our uniqueness as individuals
- Community/קהילה
- Preserving the world

Potential Key Terms/Concepts:

- B'tzelem Elohim
- Shabbat/שבת
- Human beings are not alone (we need each other)
- to work and to guard/לעבוד ולשמור

Potential Homework/Activities

- Go on a nature trail observe and record characteristics of different objects, plants and animals found in nature
- Make a list of things that make you unique, make a list of things that make someone else in the class unique
- Do something special for Shabbat (at home, dinner)
- Demonstrate the benefit of Shabbat (do 50 jumping jacks continuous, then do a set of 10, rest, 10, rest, etc. which is easier to do?)
- Moral dilemma: Your friends are making fun of someone because of a disability/difference What do you do?

Sessions 3 & 4: Adam and Eve (Gen 2-3)

Potential Value(s):

- Obedience
- Careful Listening
- Free Will v. Obedience

Potential Key Terms/Concepts:

- Commandment/מצווה
- Garden of Eden/גן עדן
- Tree of Life/עץ חיים
- Free Will
- Obedience
- Bystander v.
 Witness/עד

- Make a list of potential "rules" for our classroom for the year (to turn into a class *brit kehilah*) and consequences for straying from the *brit kehilah*
- "Rules are meant to be broken" Discuss what we do to help overcome temptation
- Careful listening Like telephone have students retell a story to each other (who didn't hear the first story), how does it change in the third rendition?
- Moral dilemma: Your friend is breaking a rule at school. What do you do?

Sessions 5 & 6: Cain & Abel (Gen 4-5)

Potential Value(s):

- Generosity
- Self-Control

Potential Key Terms/Concepts:

- Midrash/מדרש
- Offering v. Sacrifice (various types of sacrifices)
- Sibling Rivalry
- Good/Bad
 Inclination/יצר הטוב/הרע

Potential Homework/Activities

- Reflect on what Cain did "wrong" Why was his offering not accepted but Abel's was
- Examine ways in which we can control our emotions
- Act out giving a gift (offering, sacrifice) freely versus begrudgingly how does it feel to receive such a gift?
- Work on (or plan) a Tikkun Olam project
- Moral dilemma: You are shopping for a gift for someone and have twenty dollars in your pocket.
 You find something you want to buy for yourself, but you cannot get the gift your friend really wants and the thing for yourself, you can get a smaller gift and the thing for yourself – what do you buy?

Sessions 7 & 8: Noah (Gen 6-10)

Potential Value(s):

- Preparation
- Saving a Life/פיקוח נפש
- Regret

Potential Key Terms/Concepts:

- Righteousness & Tzaddik/צדיק
- Ark
- Pikuach Nefesh/ פיקוח נפש

- Reflect on the differences between preparing for daily activities and extraordinary/unexpected things
- Create a plan to be prepared
- Explore and define righteousness and the question of Noah's righteousness
- Discuss what Noah might have thought after it started raining and the other animals and people died
- Visit an animal shelter to see how they are helping animals/volunteer for a day
- (Continue to) Work on a Tikkun Olam project
- Discuss: Does God have emotions? Was God regretful? What do we do when we are regretful
- Moral dilemma: Your and your friend are almost late for school, your friend falls and skins their knee as you walk out the door, if you wait while he/she cleans up, you will be late, if you don't – you'll be on time – What do you do?

Possible Expansion: Tower of Babel – Genesis 11

Potential Value(s):

- Teamwork
- Communication

Potential Key Terms/Concepts:

- Babel
- Human mission

Potential Homework/Activities

- Work on a building project separately (each person with different random materials) – who can build the highest; then work together – one group can talk, the other can't
- Discuss: Is mixing up the languages a punishment? What does God accomplish?
- Did the people sin?
- Moral Dilemma: You are working on a group project, one of your partners is not pulling their weight. You can "tattle" to the teacher, or do the extra work – what do you choose?

Sessions 9 & 10: Abraham & Sarah (Genesis 12-21, focus: 18)

Potential Value(s):

- Hospitality/ הכנסת
- Justice/משפט
- Self-Determination

Potential Key Terms/Concepts:

- Angel/Divine Beings
- Empathy
- Visiting the Sick/ ביקור חולים
- Acceptable Lying

- Create plans for enacting welcoming behaviors in various situations
- Discuss empathy and how we can consider others' feelings
- Invite a guest over and make them feel welcome
- Discuss: Abraham lies to kings about his wife/sister Is this acceptable? Is it okay to lie sometimes? Is it okay to ask somebody else (your wife?) to lie?
- Act out Hagar's "banishment" was she rejected or was this the door to something new? Or could it be both?
- Moral Dilemma: Your friend reveals a plan to do something without thinking it through – Do you step in?

Sessions 11 & 12: Isaac & Rebekkah (Gen 22-24)

Potential Value(s):

- Faith/Trust אמונה
- Love/אהבה
- Hospitality Revisited

Potential Key Terms/Concepts:

- Midrash
- Offering v. Sacrifice
- "Test" / Theodicy
- Lying Revisited

- Define faith and trust. What does it mean to be faithful? Trusting? How are they related?
- How can we respond if we are not prepared to "be like Abraham"? Is blind-faith always a good thing?
 How are Abraham's actions in the Akedah tempered by the bargaining scene before Sodom?
- Discuss: What are the limits of faith? What can we do in the name of faith?
- How is Rebekkah like Abraham in the previous discussion?
- Rebekkah and Isaac are the first couple where the word "love" is used What does it mean to love is this an emotion or a decision?
- Abraham apparently lies to his servants Does he know what will happen or is he lying?
- Skit: Act out a skit for when a parent says "Because I said so"
- Moral Dilemma: Your teacher gives the same history test every year. Your friend's older brother has his test from last year. Do you look at it while studying?

Sessions 13 & 14: Jacob, Esau & Rachel & Leah (Gen 25-36, focus 28)

Potential Value(s):

- Awareness
- Open Heart
- Dedication/Hard Work

Potential Key Terms/Concepts:

- Dream
- God/Holiness/כוונה
- Rivalry, Revisited
- Fear
- Favoritism
- Trickery

Potential Homework/Activities

- Share an experience where you felt God's presence
- Make a list of places that you might experience holiness
- Make a picture or story of what it looks like to "find God"
- Read a Chassidic story about praying/kavanah Do a meditation outside
- Do a mindful eating exercise
- Jacob is sometimes called a trickster Why is it important to have ancestors in the Bible who aren't perfect? Who do you look up to – what are their strengths and weaknesses?
- Moral Dilemma: Your parent/teacher seems to favor one child/student over another (favors you?)

 — Do you say something?

Sessions 15 & 16: Joseph (Gen 37-50, Focus: 37 and/or 45)

Potential Value(s):

- Identity
- Humility/ענווה
- Equality
- Forgiveness/סל"ח
- Love, Revisited

Potential Key Terms/Concepts:

- Identity
- Favoritism
- Nicknames

- Write a statement of what it means to be Jewish
- Make a list of things that make us Jewish
- Make a mezuzah, or other identifiably Jewish craft
- How can we be proud of who we are without making others feel bad?
- Make a list of nicknames that people call you what meaning/emotions do they hold?
- How can we balance natural "favorites" (best friends, etc.) with making people feel like equals?
- Act out forgiving someone for something, what makes an apology "real"?
- Moral Dilemma: Your friend intentionally hurt you while they were upset, and did nothing to make up for it – Do you hold a grudge against them?

Detailed Lesson Plans

Lesson Plan 3: Adam & Eve, Part 1, Genesis 2-3

Value

Thoughtful Obedience

Context

This will be the second unit of the course. Students may still need reminders as to the structure of the classroom and the flow of the session. While students have likely worked with each other in past years, they may still be adjusting to any changes in enrollment or teachers and to any adjustments in their own lives. Returning teachers should bear in mind that students can change from the end of one school year to the beginning of the next.

Core Concepts

- Adam and Eve disobeyed a rule that was made explicit to Adam.
- Adam and Eve experience the consequences of breaking the rules.
- People have the ability to influence others' behavior.
- Sometimes you have to rely on your own judgment when there are competing values.

Lesson Objectives

- Students will relate the story of Adam, Eve and the Serpent to their own lives.
- Students will articulate the relationship between free will and obedience
- Students will reflect on when, if ever, it is okay to "bend" rules or put fences around them
- Students will create a *brit kehilah* for the class along with consequences for straying from the *brit kehilah*

Overview

Time	Goal	Lower Grades	Upper Grades
00-15	Community	Morning Meeting	
15-40	Relate/Articulate	Brainstorm lists	Study Biblical Text
40-45	Relate	Listen to Story	Share Story
45-70		Don't be the snake	"But I don't want to"
70-85	Create Brit	Brit Kehilah	
	Kehilah		
80-90	Recap &		
	Homework		
	Homework:	Create 3 "journal" entries of an	Make note of any time that
		experience following or	you disagree with an adult's
		breaking a rule.	rule or judgment

Suggested Homework for Parents:

Have parents work through the text that the older students will be studying below as preparation for their own discussion on the theme of obedience versus free will.

Additional Question/Food for Thought: In the Biblical story, Adam and Eve are punished for eating from the tree. However, the implied punishment is immediate death – some commentators say that because they ate from the tree, Adam and Eve became mortal and will die (just as inevitable as immediate death). Are there times when you enforce strict punishment for behaviors? When you let behaviors slide? When you mediate the punishment you said you'd give? What influences your behavior/decisions in each of these cases?

Detailed Agenda

00-15	Community	Morning Meeting
00 10	001111111111111111111111111111111111111	11101111118 1110011118

All students are together with the teacher. Parents, might use this time to discuss the role of rules in their family's routine or discuss the "homework" text.

- Greet students
- Check-in simchas and sorrows (each student can share a brief piece of personal news)
- Blessing for study
- Moral dilemma posed to students: Your school clearly does not allow cheating in the classroom. You are in the middle of a very difficult test and you see that a classmate has notes on the floor and is looking at them! What do you do?
 - o Remind all students that there is no "correct" answer and they should be thoughtful and deliberate in their responses.
 - o Have older students sit in chevruta and discuss for a couple minutes and then write down the tensions in the situation and their response and reasoning in their journals.
 - o Have younger students sit with the teacher and discuss as a group. Help students think about the consequences of various actions.

15-40 Relate/Articulate Brainstorm lists Study Biblical Text
--

YOUNGER STUDENTS:

Materials: Index cards, writing implements, tape, board (or just on table)

- What rules do you follow at home? At school? (Make a Venn Diagram)
 - o Have students write rules (or write for them) on index cards (or similar) and tape onto board into a Venn Diagram
- Why are these rules important? [They keep us safe, they help us learn]
- Categorize:
 - o Have students "move" the rules into two different categories those that are easy to follow and those that are more difficult. If students do not agree you might choose to let them make a "spectrum" and put them in the middle.

- Why are some rules easier to follow than others? [We don't want to hurt each other, etc.]
- o What makes us want to break rules? [Because it's fun, we like to...]

OLDER STUDENTS

Materials: Handouts for story (Story form or Biblical text), "Puppets" – handmade, dolls, etc.

- Study Genesis 2:4-3:24 *** Because of the large quantity of Biblical text to give students the whole story, it might be beneficial, based on the level of the students, to give them an excerpted text while providing the context before and after (such as the handout included below), providing a "story form" (child's version, see resources listed in Introduction) of the Biblical text or the option of studying either.
- Potential Guiding Questions
 - O There is a lot going on in the story. Have students read a couple verses at a time and create an outline of the story as they go. Pay special attention to the command not to eat from the tree.
 - O Check for understanding: Follow the thread of the command Who was commanded to do what? How did the command change throughout the story? How might that have influenced Adam and Eve's behavior? How have you, or might you, react differently to a rule made by a parent or teacher versus a rule made by a friend, sibling or peer?
 - o Return to the moral dilemma Think about your own experience
 - What if you were in a situation where you saw that a rule was not enforced? What would you do? Would you keep following the rule? Would you test another rule? If you got away with something in one setting (school) would you try it in another setting (home, religious school, etc.)?
 - What if you were in a situation and saw that a rule wasn't enforced for someone else – you saw the teacher let the student "get away" with cheating – would you break the rule too?
 - What if you were in a situation and you could aid someone into breaking a rule or help remind them to follow it what would you do? What was your response to the moral dilemma? Would you answer differently after our discussion?
 - Take a few minutes to review your story outline and prepare to use puppets to tell the story to younger students.

40-45	Relate	Listen to Story	Share Story
• 0	lder students relate the	e biblical story to younger student	S
		, , ,	
45-70		Don't be the snake	"But I don't want to"

YOUNGER STUDENTS:

- Ask students What does the snake do in the story? [Convince Eve to eat the fruit]
- What does Eve do after eating the fruit? [Gives Adam the fruit]
- Why might Eve have eaten the fruit? [Curious, exploring, wanted knowledge, she wasn't commanded not to by God]
- What might Adam have been thinking while Eve ate the fruit? [Thinking about whether to stop her or not]
- Why might Adam have eaten the fruit? [Nothing happened to Eve, he wanted knowledge/was curious too]
- What happens next? [All three get punished]
- We talked before about how some rules are easier to follow than others. The rules that were hard to follow we said were because [its fun, we want to do it, our friends encourage us, etc.].
 - o Take one example of a rule at the time and see who/what is the "snake"
 - Example Difficulty: It is hard not to talk in class because my friend talks to me a lot. The students might identify that: The friend is like the "snake" because he/she tempts the student into breaking the rule.
 - Example Difficulty: It is hard not to eat candy from the candy dish because it is right there on the coffee table and you can sneak a piece easily. The students might identify that: The candy dish/our sweet tooth is like the snake because it tempts us into breaking the rule.
 - Once students seem to get the hang of figuring out what/who makes breaking rules tempting ask them if they might have been the "snake" to someone else? Start with a personal example. (I've been like the snake because I leave the candy in reach...)
 - O Have students draw/act out/rewrite/re-describe their examples where they were the snake and transform them into eliminating (or overcoming) the snake.
 - You might also allow students to create a video on a phone/computer to consider later.
- Wrap up by reiterating the following points:
 - o Rules are important, but they can be hard to follow
 - o There are temptations that lead us to use our free will to break the rules

• We can use our free will to overcome those temptations when we know something is wrong.

OLDER STUDENTS:

- Have students describe a time when they *really* didn't want to follow a rule (and whether or not they ultimately did). Ask students to identify in their story what made them act the way they did.
 - O Relate to the yetzer hatov (good inclination/impulse)/yetzer hara (bad inclination) (good angel, bad angel in cartoons) what makes the yetzer hatov win?
- Ask students if there was a time when they knowingly disobeyed a rule *for a good reason*. Ask students to identify what made them act the way they did.
 - Relate to the notion of commandments "superseding" others: Saving a life is more important than Shabbat, etc. What deems a "good enough" reason to break a rule? What happens when adults do not agree with our decision?
 - o Did Eve have a good enough reason to break the rule? Adam?
- Ask students if there was a time that there was rule that was preventative Like in the story where the commandment goes from don't eat to don't even touch? Why might adults make rules that could be broken (are "unnecessary") in order to ensure that something else happens?
 - o Example: No TV until homework is done (If there's time for 1 hour of homework and 1 hour of TV, why does the order matter?
 - Ex. Younger kids have to stay out of the kitchen when the oven is open They
 would be perfectly safe in some areas of the kitchen, but lest they wander near the
 hot oven
 - o Relate to the notion of "Fences around the Torah" some things are *so* important that we need to be really careful so we make extra barriers. Our tradition sometimes felt this way about the laws given in the Torah. Yet, it can backfire (Well if I can touch the tree, I can eat from it...). What are your thoughts on this idea?

70-85	Create Brit	Brit Kehilah
	Kehilah	

Materials: Board or big piece of paper, Poster board, markers

- We've been doing a lot of talking about rules today, and we have now spent enough time together to be a community. We are going to commit to the rules that we, as a class, can follow throughout the year.
 - o Refer to the notion of "brit" God made a covenant, a brit, with our ancestors, whereby if they followed God, God would bless them. We are going to make a

brit among ourselves. If we follow it, we grow in holiness and will earn some tangible rewards too. If we don't follow it, there are consequences.

- Brainstorm a list of potential rules. Allow think time. Write everything. Encourage students to frame things positively (Listen to others instead of Don't interrupt)
- If there are "obvious" things missing from the list, ask questions to guide students towards those areas (How should we treat each other?)
- Assuming the list is long asks students to categorize different things into "headings" (Be respectful. Pay attention, instead of specific actions).
- If time Allow students to begin to create a final draft make it colorful and unique, but still readable. Leave room for everyone to sign. Depending on the length of the list, it may be helpful to include examples under big headings to help remind students what being respectful means.
- Wrap-Up: Next time we will brainstorm consequences to breaking the *brit kehillah*.

80-90	Recap &	
	Homework	

- Check for understanding Ask students to share one thing they learned from today's session or one question they still have about today's session.
- Homework:
 - Younger students Create three "journal" entries of an experience following or breaking a rule. Depending on age/ability, this may be written, drawn, photographed, etc.
 - Older students Make note of any time (up to about 3-5) that you disagreed with an adults rule or judgment. Why did you disagree? What did you do? What happened as a result? Can breaking a rule be a positive action? When/Why?

Abridged Genesis 2:4-3:24 – Adam & Eve

And What Was That Rule Again?

Translation from the Women's Torah Commentary

```
א שלה תודלות ייסה ייסא ברץ. Gen 2:4 This is the chronicle of heaven and earth when they
      ्ष ्व ः
      ুড়ে ্ড্র
                  יום,
        ਾ਼ਨ।ਨ
                        :ু%⊡:
                                  were created, on the day God YHWH made earth and
מַתוֹשׁ מֵאֹלהים
                  OÇ
                       JO DO
                        ्टर्
ּיָה ּיַה יְהִים
                  ः ्ष ....
                                  heaven... 7 Then God YHWH fashioned the man – dust from
       ַסַמּזיַרי פֵצר סַצר
्ट ्वत, ्र ख्त
                       ्ट्राच,
                                  the soil – and breathed into his nostrils the breath of life, so
        জুন্⊙- ছা⊙ কু⊙েন্⊙
                   ַאַת- ⊙ַע
        ָמן
     ַפַּמת ִיִּים; וָהִי ⊙ַדַם,
                          ָפַיו,
                                  that the man became a living being. 9 Then, out of the soil,
           ়া ়
     ≯ু⊙
                          Χ
্ক ের
           ្រ
   ּיָהוה ֹלהים, מָמן-
                                  God YHWH grew trees alluring to the eye and good for fruit;
              ুল ⊙ুদ ়ে ⊙্থ পুলা
       X
              ្
  יַטוֹב
              7
                   סמה, - עץ ⊙
                                  and in the middle of the garden, the Tree of Life and the Tree
      ুলু জু ুল
                   ָאַ⊙ַד ⊙ַבּל
              ्र
                         ⊅়⊙
              ្
 ַעץ,
         ָיים, תדּוֹ
                     יוּ עַץ --
                                  of All Knowledge. ...
 ्र
                     מל מאים כבל
         কে কে ৩০
 ্র ্রে,
                     ्द
                🔐 סַה ַרַ עַעת וֹטב ע
                   ∙ੁ⊙
                   ្ទ
                                  15 So God YHWH took the man, placing him in the Garden
   ;০ুচু ত
             ַהים,
                   ्ट्रत ⊙ुत
   ুদ েঞ্
            מַל
                   धा ुं ज़्त
   -אַת
                                  of Eden to work it and keep it. 16 God YHWH then
ַעַ רֶּדן, ⊙ִלּ ⊙ַעַ ⊙ִב ⊙ַדּה
                          ्राध्त
                   -۲۲
                          ं ्
                   ्ट
                          ূ
                                  commanded the man, saying, "You may eat all you like of
     לו ורה . טז סיהוה להים,
 אַ על
            ়ে ফু
                         \circ_{\underline{\alpha}}
                         ₩.
            ្រ
                                  every tree in the garden – 17 but of the Tree of All
                     :מר
 ַכּון, יּסָאכׁל 
               כׁל
                           ুচুত
        מ פנץ- ה
                     לא
                           ₹⊙
                           ্কু
                               יַה עַד עַת וֹטב⊙נָּז कַ
            ¥
                     ಾರ
--לא
```

```
Knowle
תא פל .יזו פו פץ,
                    dge you
                    may
                    not eat,
                    for the
                    moment
                    you eat
                    of it
                    you
                       אַ פַל, שְּנוּ: shall be doomed to die."
         ््
          ्द
               ٥Ć
          X
                         תומ מות.
                                     18 Then God YHWH considered, "It is not good that the
                         \odot
    לא-טוב יתו
                                    man be alone – I will make him a help-mate." ... 21 Then,
   Ą
        ַאֹלהים,
                       ּיָהוה
                       ַויא מַר
                    ַרָם כַּבּוֹד; עֱי
                                    throwing the man into a profound slumber, so that he slept,
                    ুর কু
                             X○⊙
                             েক
        ַפַּל ⊙ִיהוה 'להים
  ⊙ੂמה
                            וֹד....
                                    Go YHWH took one of his ribs and closed up the flesh in
  ्र
                           \mathfrak{p} \circ \mathfrak{p}
               CH C C
  つ਼⊙
                            \circ c
  \Box
  ין; קַּח, סַּתעׁ פּסָּעיו,
                         ⊙تٍם,
                                    that place. 22 Now God YHWH built up the rib taken from
              তের তেকা তেতা বেল
                       ַעל- יַ
                        ं ए ्वंस्टर्ट
             ַנָה. כב
קר
קר
קר
קר
                                    the man into a woman, and brought her to the man, ...
          הלים כַצי⊙ולע ⊙ול וקח
  ⊙ਾਰ,
  אַת- הַ אַ שַער- ייַה ייַא
  -מן
           …⊙ু⊏
                      ়ে ়ে ়ে,
                                    25 Now the two of them were naked, the man and his wife,
           ্রেভিয়া হেরেপে-ভাম ⊝স
                      ्० १
           ַאל
                                    and they were not ashamed. 3:1 Of all the wild animals that
 ָא ִישוֹת;
             ַמים,
                     ַקּם
                           ָי וּיִרוּ
 ा़⊙ ाट
             עור
                     ַר
                           כה י
                     ₩.
 েু⊼ ়⊙
                                    God YHWH made, the serpent was the most cunning. It said
   ,ה ⊙ום
             ্দুঅ,
                       י ⊙תבׄ ⊙ו
   ַסָּג ⊙ַע ⊙ַטּ יּטַער
                       ַולא, ש
             ়ে %.
                       ₩)
         ⊅ু⊙
                                    to the woman, "Did God really say, 'You may not eat of any
                           כל פת
       שַּׁים שַ יִיהוה
                    ټ٦,
       ַּשׁה
                    W.
                           কু কু
                X
                    ্য
                            ָאל
  מר
           ָא ⊙ַשַה, אַף'
                                    ַויא מֱר,
                                               47
  %⊙ -
                     কৃ⊙ -
```

```
;מֹלהים tr
         e
         e
         i
         n
         t
         h
         e
         G
         a
         r
         d
         e
         n
         ,,
         2
         T
         h
         e
         W
         0
         m
         a
         n
         S
         a
         i
         d
         t
         0
         t
         h
         e
         S
         e
         r
        p
         e
         n
         t,
        0
          לא תא ⊙ְבוּל כֹל מֵעץ
                                    any tree in the Garden we may eat the fruit, 3 but God said,
               מֶּלֹהים, מִּ
                                    ফু אֹריַ ב. 48
          ר ⊙ַהְּיִאַיּשָׁ הּ, טָאל-
```

```
6
ু ়ে ়ে
                0
                f
                th
                e
                fr
                иi
                t
                of
                th
                e
                tr
                ee
                in
                th
                e
                m
                id
                dl
                e
                of
                it
                d
                0
                n
                ot
                ea
                t,
                a
                n
                d
                d
                0
  ָרי ⊙ַגן, נא פֵל ⊙פּיָרי
                                      not [even] touch it, or you will die." 4 But the serpent said to
                              :W
  গ় 1 ম.
                              াু
           מַץ- הַ
                        ॐः
                              ्र
                        'n
                              Ą.
                          עץ, שֶר
  לא
            רי ⊙ַא מַמר ---
                                      the woman, "You most certainly will not die! 5 On the
  מֵּלהים
            רַגּ ⊙ַגּן -
                          X
                               কৃ⊙
            ּרָבוּוֹת
                              ⊙כוּל
           :בוֹ
                    ּיִלא
                                      contrary: God knows that when you do eat of it, your eyes
            יגעוּ
                    ָמ מַנוּ,
                              תא
            \Gamma
         ש, מֶּל-
                     מָּוּתן יַוּיֹא מֶּר
                                      will be opened and you will be like gods, knowing all
                              ্ল
              ৸ৄ⊙
                     7.
              ॻ॒॓⊙
              ্য
    ָא ה: לא-מתוֹ, מֻמוּתן .היֹיַד עַ
                                      things." 6 So when the woman saw how good to eat the
                             ৹৾৸৽৻য়
   ्ट ्षुता
                                         තු තු
                         ्ं
                              בוּ,
```

्

```
בי יחוֹ אֲ ֹפֶּ פְּלֵּ פֶּחַ

tree' יהי s

יה tree'

יה tree'

יה tree'

יה fruit

woul

d be,

and

how

alluri

ng to

the

eyes

it

was,

and
```

```
how desirable the insight was that the tree would bring, she
   י ⊙ַר עַי, וֹטבּ
                    ָר וּהִיתם,
   ַפּאֹלהים,
                    (מַיַ ני כֶּבַב;
וטב עץ סעל
                 ו ראף ה.
                                     took some of its fruit and ate; and then she gave some to her
ַכּי ⊙ַהְ מַמְיַאַ
                 ייַרעיַן קוּייַסְּייּשַעיּי
्द
                             ្្
ַכּי ⊙ַיָּה-הוּא עַבּ יּסָח יּטַמד יּיַה עַצץ
                                     man who was with her, and he ate. 7 Then the eyes of both
         ַת אַ יַניִם, יּיִ
                               ÞО
         ַכל מַני
       יוֹ, אׁ כַּבל;
                     ַכּיל, קַקח
                                     of them were opened, and, realizing that they were naked,
  ा
       ות
               কু েআই এবে ে ্ন
                           ्दं
   ្រ
              <u>න</u> හ
              ה, א כַּל
  ্ল ⊙ুদে,
                         מהשי
                                     they sewed fig leaves together and made themselves skirts.
                    ַגם-⊙ַל ⊙ַמּ
  ্ম েতু জু
              ַרַי
  D 7.
                    y)
               עוּ, י
   ממ הם;
                        עיהם,
               ּיָד יָב
         עיר
                       W) O
                                     8 At the breezy time of the day, they heard the sound of God
  ַפּוּר כֵּלה ⊙ַנַה, כַיּוּשׂ מָהם גֹרת.
        জৈত ছেতেই
                        V
                            ়
                  \mathbb{M}_{\odot}
                            ्र
                                     YHWH walking about in the Garden; and the man and his
                         ַמעו•
      ַּיהוה ֹלהים,
             ַאת-לוק
                         ធំ្ ់ ហ្
                                     woman hid themselves from God YHWH among the trees. 9
ַבלּיָך ⊙ִנִּלריוח יום; חַהַּבא ייַדם
কুত ়েল েত্প
                  יַה פַב ⊙ַנּון--
                            ্ল
ু তুদ
                            \alpha
                                     But God WHWH called out to the man, saying, "Where are
 יהוה ֹלהים, תֹדו, מֵעץ ⊙יהוה ֹלהים,
                            ַשוֹת,
     ⊅⊙ ४
                  ַסִרְיָא ּ ַסִּפּעֵיי
                  20
                                     you?" 10 He said, "I heard the sound of You in the Garden; I
;০ুচুচু;
          ָהים,
                ্ণ েণ্ড
                               7
                               \mathfrak{D}\odot
ַאַל ⊙ַת ⊙ַא
                 ্ ্রে ুেশে
באל-
                 ្ ២.
                                কু
                                     was afraid because I was naked, so I hid myself." 11 Then
                          א מול ר,
    ַה אַמַר, ⊙ַּלּיַך
                     סי ⊙פ
    י ווי יאת-קו.
                     ু 🗴
                                     [God] said, "Who told you that you were naked? Did you
    ָן; כָאירא - כַעירם נַ כִּני,
                            ַחוי
    כי ⊙יא
                  ্ম তথ্য তথ্
                        1
                            7
                            ₩.
                                     eat the fruit of the tree that I forbade you to eat?" 12 The
        ַבא .יא פַמר-- פַמי כִּגיד <u>י</u>
      ַוּיֹא יָה ּיָך
                            TO O
      ्र
                            X
                            ្រ
                                     man said, "The woman whom You gave me, she gave me the
   ה; ⊙ַה מֵץ, מֶשר ִיּידִית
                             ירם
               ַע יַּתְּ נְתַּוֹיֶר
          X
                        X୍⊙
  ֿא מַרר,
                                     מא ⊙פל- מו ממנוי-- ⊙מא ⊙פו ⊙פל ⊙פת
               ূ
                            יב.
```

```
ַל חָיי
          fr
ंद व्
          uit
          of
          th
           e
           tr
          SO
           Ι
           at
           e.
           13
           G
           od
           Y
          Η
           W
           Η
           th
           en
           sa
           id
           to
           th
           e
             ַדם: יָא ה שֶער יַתָּהּ
                                         woman, "What is this that you have done?" And the woman
   ুত্র ়ুদ
             \Box
                         ₩. 📆 ⊙ 🐼 ⊙ 💯
             \mathbf{r}
                                কৃ⊙
 ्नात
             עיץא פל .יג
                              - פלי
                                         said, "The serpent tricked me into eating it."
  ַויֹא מֱר
                 ्यत - ्क ्व
                              ्र
                       ָמַן
                              \mathbb{D}\odot
  - זאת שִּׁית; א שֶּר,
                         אַלהים אַ ה,
                         ्रद्र⊙क्ष
          ∑ু
                ַמַה
                                         14 Then God YHWH said to the serpent, "Because you did
                               (۸ ה,
         100
                 שיא
                         কৃত কৃত this, you –out of all the beasts, all the wild animals – are
                          ĴО
                 ্য
                          7
                 יד יַוֹיא שָּר ִיהוֹה 'להים
מֶּ
                                         under a curse: on your belly shall you crawl, eating dust all
    ַמָּג ּיַמַּה,
- יַּגְּג ּיִבּ
יִמּי יַּנִּלְל
                            שית זאת,
                 7
                      רוּר
                 ুট্⊙ ফু⊙ কু⊙
                                         the days of your life. 15 And between you and the woman,
  ֶּידָה;חֹסִינֶךְ סִעִּסּפּר
סִישִּׁ - סִיגָ סִיּגְ
                             ַמבל יַת
                             ে ুম
  ַמַל מַת מַלְּךְ,
                      Ą
                                         ⊙ਾ⊈੯
   ָאי ⊙ַבּה מִשׁית, יַדָּר מָאי פּבָּה מָשׁית,
                                 פולי
                                                     52
   ু , שו ়া ়
                                 ़⊙ -
```

```
and
תא ככל
         between
         her seed
         and
         your
         seed, I
         am
         setting
         enmity:
                                      They shall strike at your head, and you shall strike at their
       וּ פַּין אַ וּ פַּיּיָר וּ פַין
       ַבי ּוָבוּיַה יּטְשה, יַז וְעַיָּד,
                                      heel." 16 And to the woman, [God] said, "I am doubling and
 ראש, יו אי יותה פושנו
                              :77
 ্ন
        אוה ⊙יַדְפוּש
                              ু কৈ
                              ∙়⊙
                              ূ
                                      redoubling your toil and your pregnancies; with anguish
  ַמֶּב. }ס{ - יַזּגּיָא הּ מַּר, יּעַבּהּ
   טו אַלּשַ פאַ פּר
                               ॐ॒
                                      shall you bear children, yet your desire shall be for your
     ַבּהוֹ עַּרָ-- ⊙ִבּעַעצב, וִזי
     ַר עש ⊙עב ַ וֹדְ ⊙ִרְ עַה ּ ⊙ִלּ
                              X
                                      man, and he shall rule over you." 17 Now to the man, [God]
      ָיאוּה,
                    ָאל- ִאישיִך,
                    סַתַּ מִים; סּוָר
      ्षु क़्र्
      יַתוּש
                                 නු said, "Because you hearkened to your wife and ate of the tree
   - ַסַדם מַמר, סַדַם
                     ַרָ. }ס{
   יז לוּ ⊙ַמא ⊙ַמא כִבי
                          ⊅⊙ -
                           ਾ ⊙ਘਾਰ
            ַסָּת קוֹל שֶּבֶּך, אׁ כַּבל
                                      about which I commanded you, saying, 'Do not eat of it,' the
    ⊼ু⊙ -
                  W) O
                  N
    ָמַן
                              Ø
                              W \odot
   עשר יתייָד מור לא תא פַעל פַאנוּ---
                                      soil is now cursed on your account: Only through anguish
       רוּרה ⊙מָה, ברוּיָך, ⊙נָצבוֹן
                                      shall you eat of it, as long as you live. 18 It shall sprout
       ַרַ עַנייַב עע
                      ⊅ৃ⊙
 ֶּטֶדִּי ִּיִּמְ תַּיּסִרְ תַּר,
                            ֶל ⊙בָּה,
                     מֵלִי
                                      thorns and thistles for you, when you would eat the plants of
 ית יוקץוֹ.
                     ़ं
         ַמיח ⊙ַלּ ⊙ַח, - עַע עָשׂב
                                      the field! 19 By the sweat of your brow shall you eat bread,
             ַא כַ אַת ⊙
                             ्र
    תא כבל קחם,
                     ַן עַת
                                      till you return to the earth – that earth you were taken from;
                     יט יט ⊙ב. ש⊙
          ושב
```

ַע ⊙פֿר ⊙פֿר

for dust you are, and to dust you shall return."

Lesson Plan 6: Cain & Abel, Part 1, Genesis 4-5

Potential Value(s):

- Generosity
- Self-Control

Potential Key Terms/Concepts:

- Midrash
- Offering v. Sacrifice
- Sibling Rivalry
- Yetzer Hatov/Hara

Potential Homework/Activities

- Reflect on what Cain did "wrong" Why was his offering not accepted but Abel's was
- Examine ways in which we can control our emotions
- Act out giving a gift (offering, sacrifice) freely versus begrudgingly how does it feel to receive such a gift?
- Work on (or plan) a Tikkun Olam project
- Moral dilemma:

Value

Self-Control & Generosity

Context

Students should now be familiar with classroom routine and might be demonstrating greater reflection in their work as they become more comfortable. This lesson will introduce Cain & Abel through the lens of generosity and giving freely, with an eye towards self-control. Self-control helps you express your anger in non-lethal ways. The biblical story discusses murder, the facilitator should adapt the lesson to be sensitive to the children's needs and abilities. The Tikkun Olam project that is started as part of this unit might be continued into the next unit, or this unit might be extended beyond two sessions.

Core Concepts

- Abel gives more freely and generously while Cain apparently gives the bare minimum.
- Cain is driven only by his emotions. When do we rely on emotions and when do we need to reign them in?
- The emotions and intentions behind the characters' actions affects how their gifts are accepted.

Lesson Objectives

- Students will relate the story of Cain & Abel to their own lives.
- Students will articulate the relationship between emotion/intention and action
- Students will brainstorm ways they can make a difference in the community by being generous

Overview

Time	Goal	Lower Grades	Upper Grades
------	------	--------------	--------------

00-15	Community	Morning Meeting	
15-40	Relate/Articulate	Molding faces	Study Biblical Text
40-45	Relate	Listen to Story	Share Story
45-70		Match faces to characters	Intentions
70-85	Brainstorm	Brainstorm ideas for a school Ti	kkun Olam project
80-90	Recap &		
	Homework		
	Homework:	Create 3 "journal" entries of	Set an intention each day
		controlling emotions	-

Potential Homework for Parents

Study the Biblical text together in groups. This text is particularly problematic as it is very terse and does not explain in much detail the emotion or intentions of the characters. You might want to consider these additional Midrashim and ancient interpreters on the passage – What questions are they answering about the Biblical text? Do you agree with them? Would you say something else?

- o And it came to pass after some days that Cain brought to the Lord an offering of the fruit of the ground." (Gen 4:3). There are here two indictments of this self-lover [Cain]. One is that he made an offering to God "after some days" and not right away; the other that it was "of the fruit" but not "of the first fruit." (Philo, The Sacrifices of Cain and Abel 52)
- o He [Cain] killed Abel with a stone. (Jubilees 4:31)
- o [After the incident of the sacrifices] Cain said to his brother Abel, "Come, let us both go out into the field." And it came to pass that when they had gone into the field Cain cried out to Abel, "It is my view that the world was not created with divine love and is not arranged in keeping with people's good deeds, but justice is corrupted for why else was your sacrifice accepted with favor and mine not?" Able said to Cain: "No it is my view that the world was indeed created with divine love and is altogether arranged in keeping with people's good deeds. But it was because my deeds have been better than yours that my sacrifice was accepted with favor and your sacrifice was not." (Targum Neophyti Gen 4:8)

Detailed Agenda

		T
00-15	Community	Morning Meeting

All students are together with the teacher. Parents, might use this time to review their skit for the younger students or study the above text.

- Greet students
- Check-in simchas and sorrows (each student can share a brief piece of personal news)
- Blessing for study

- Moral dilemma posed to students: You are shopping for a gift for someone and have twenty dollars in your pocket. You find something you want to buy for yourself, but you cannot get the gift your friend really wants and the thing for yourself, you can get a smaller gift and the thing for yourself what do you buy?
 - o Remind all students that there is no "correct" answer and they should be thoughtful and deliberate in their responses.
 - o Have older students sit in chevruta and discuss for a couple minutes and then write down the tensions in the situation and their response and reasoning in their journals.
 - o Have younger students sit with the teacher and discuss as a group. Help students think about the consequences of various actions.

15-40	Relate/Articulate	Molding faces	Study Biblical Text

YOUNGER STUDENTS

Materials: Playdough (1 or 2 cans per student), Plates

- Give each student a can or two of Playdough (or similar modelling compound for gluten allergies)
- Have students verbally brainstorm a list of common emotions, have each student select 1 or 2 from the list (preferably without overlap) and make that face out of Playdough, on their plates or 3-D, whichever they choose/are able.
- Parents should guide students where necessary to help differentiate the faces Try having a student have their friend or an adult make the face they are creating to have a visual example
- IF extra time: You might ask students how they react to these different faces what if they walked in a room and a friend were making them? Their parent? A teacher?
- Do not clean up the Playdough keep the faces

OLDER STUDENTS

Materials: Handout

- Study the Biblical text: Gen 4:1-16
- Guiding Questions
 - o What happens in the story?
 - o What do you imagine Cain & Abel's life was like?
 - o Why might God have preferred one offering/gift over the other?
 - o What does God attempt to do after Cain's offering is rejected?
 - O What is Cain's response? Why? What is wrong with his response? *** Address the murder to the level appropriate with the group, have students discuss explicitly how and if this part of the story will be included in their retelling, or if they will end the story with offerings and God's response to Cain.
 - o What is missing from the text that we would normally like in a story?

- O Have students work in pairs to act out the story in a skit. The only rule is that they must follow the script of the biblical story. Make sure each student has a chance and encourage students to "redo" the skit in different ways multiple times, as time permits after each skit consider the following questions for reflection
 - What was added to the story?
 - What was still left untold?
 - What emotions did the actors put into the story?
 - What intentions did the characters have?
- o Pick which skit to use to tell the story to the younger students

40-45	Relate	Listen to Story	Share Story
-------	--------	-----------------	-------------

 Perform skit for younger students with the preface that it diverges from the biblical story a bit

45-70	Match faces to characters	Intentions

YOUNGER STUDENTS:

Materials: "Story version" of the text

- Retur 1 to your faces which faces would you put with each character at key parts of the story?
 - O Read the story pausing at various parts and ask students to point to the face that best matches the characters. Students do not have to agree. Have them explain why they selected the face/emotion that they did.
 - O What was Cain's face like when he gave his gift to God?
 - Have students pretend to give a gift (random object in room) to another student with different "faces" – How does the recipient feel about the gift?
 - Do you think that it might have been *how* Cain gave his gift that mattered more than *what* Cain gave?
 - How do you feel when giving gifts?
 - o *** Addressing the murder:
 - If students are too young or it is deemed inappropriate by the parents, have older students stop the story after the offerings, but before the scene in the field.
 - Cain's response
 - What does Cain do after his gift is not accepted?
 - Is this appropriate?
 - Explain that it is never right to physically hurt someone because you are upset – What is a better way that Cain might have treated to his brother?

- Has there ever been a time that maybe your broke something or said something really mean because you were upset?
 [Allow students to give examples]
- What are some better ways we can address our feelings that don't involve physically hurting someone or something, or even saying something mean?
- Reiterate that Cain's behavior was wrong and he is severely punished for what he does. The Bible teaches us real life stories – which sometimes means that not everyone in the Bible is perfect. We can learn from their (and our own) mistakes!

OLDER STUDENTS:

Materials: Trash Can, Soft Ball

- Intentions are Everything:
 - o We do things with good, bad or other intentions all the time. Let's explore how intentions can affect our behavior
 - O Set up the trash can at a slightly challenging distance, and use some kind of marker (tile on floor, etc.) as a "throw line" have students take turns making shots
 - Round 1 Intention: Make the Basket
 - Round 2 Intention: Make a Cool Shot
 - Round 3 Intention: Be as Silly as Possible (while still being safe)
 - Which round of baskets did we make the most baskets (as a class) Why do you think this was? How did our intention change the "success" of our behavior?
 - How do you think intention changes your own behavior in other situations?
 - Correcting a friend's mistake (a teacher's mistake?), e.g.'
 - How might Cain have addressed his situation with a better intentions? What intentions can we try to set for ourselves during the day that will help us act better than Cain did in this story?

70-85 Brainstorm Brainstorm ideas for a school Tikkun Olam project

- We talked a lot today about emotions and intentions in relation to Cain and Abel's gifts to God.
- What are some ways that we can emit good intentions and emotions into the world? [Lead students toward Tikkun Olam if possible], or run with their own ideas
- Tikkun Olam is repairing the world It is our responsibility to make the world a better place and by doing so we can bring positive emotions to others. However we can fulfil this responsibility with Cain's intentions of doing the minimum or doing it unhappily, or with Abel's intentions doing more and doing it gladly. Which do you think God will "accept" more readily? [Being like Abel]

• What are some things that we could do as a class to help out the community around us?

80-90	Recap &	
	Homework	

- Have students share one idea, insight or question they have on the basis of the lesson
- Homework:
 - O Younger students: Pay attention to your emotions. Write down (talk to your parents over breakfast, draw a picture, etc.) how you feel each morning. Before you go to bed, do the same. Discuss in next session how our feelings at the beginning of the day might have affected how we acted during that day/felt at the end of the day.
 - Older students: Begin each day by setting an "intention" for the day Start simple (be patient with X in X class, etc.), if you are successful extend the scope of your intention. Write 3 journal entries reflecting on your intentions, why you set them, your perceived success/progress, etc.
 - o Parents Do the same as your students

Genesis 4:1-4:16 – Cain & Abel

You Got Made and Did What...?

Translation from the Women's Torah Commentary

ָסָדם, כַדע וּטָה תוֹ; מַּר,	4:1 The man now was intimate with his wife; she became
က် ေတ် ေတ် ေတ် ေတ် ေတ်	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
אר יָא יָאר אַ פּרָן. אַנְאַר, כִּירִי יש - יֶלֶד קַּרְיַן, אַנְאַר, כִּירִי יש -	pregnant and gave birth to Cain, saying, "Both I and YHWH
ַטַת ָּאַת- ַטַּת ַּיָּפּן יָא יָאַת פֿוּ פֿוּרְן, אַ בּּיוּ, יָבּוּת	pregnant and gave onth to Cam, saying, Both I and 111W11
Ď	1 1 2201 4 4 1 1 1 1 1 4 4 1 1
בלו, פּלן. סיף הוה יו יול - סיא - סיקה.	have made a man." 2 She then continued, giving birth to his
ַל אָת אָת •ָאַת	
קר (בער צ'אן, יף, ה בבד - סייסהי ר' פן סיי ע' סייסהי ר' פן	brother Abel. Abel became a shepherd, while Cain tilled the
jo jo jo je	
্কৃ	.1
्र ः्र ्षतः .	soil.
יָהי, מַקץ מִמים; מַבא יִין יְרִי	3 [One day,] in the course of time, Cain brought some of his
के ते एवं स्व	
סָמָה, פַּיהוה הֶּה בֶּבּל כִּביא ⊙	harvest as an offering to YHWH, 4 and Abel, too, brought
্র েণ্ডান নে েণ্ডা ্য প্র	
יבי. האוֹאנוֹ, וּמֵא סֶחּ ּיֻלְּמֵבּ סָּגוּן; יִ ע-	[an offering] from among the choice lambs of his flock and
ַגם פְרַכֿוֹרתצַ שַּׁי	
יַ הוה, זַה עַבל ⊙יִב ⊙ַחוֹת עַאל- כַּקְיִן	their fattest parts. YHWH approved Abel and his offering, 5
יף סָאל- סָאל- מַנ .ה יף	
ּיְר ַסְבּיַּשָּוֹת, לא ה; שַּרּיִיִן אִׁדּ,	but did not approve Cain and his offering. Cain was filled
্ণ কৈ বি তুম ুল ় বু ্ল	
ּטָש ⊙קל וּל יו בַאר ⊝יָהוה, יַן: ה	with rage; his face fell. 6 YHWH then said to Cain, "Why are
רַ טִיא - סִקּ סִמָּ . וֹ טֵיא . סְקּ סִמָּ	with rage, his face fell. & 111 will their said to Calli, willy are
ַ מַיס סָפּ מּ מָאל ⊙ַעָּ	view so energy Why your fallon face? Would you not do well
- ה, ⊙ַמָּה וּלייָך תָּאלֹאוֹ סיָריִך סִלָּל סִפּר יַנָר .זיִאם	you so angry? Why your fallen face? Would you not do well
्दं ्व ्व ्व	
יסָח פירב, פאת, פאם לא פטיב, פַתח	to lift it? For if you do not do well – sin is a demon at the
ַמִּר ַּיְשׁ ֻּּיִר ְיִתְּרְ עַּלְּפֶּ	•
את פַץ; לֶּדִי, ◌ַמְּתֹו, ◌ַסְּה, ַסְשׁ רֹ אַ ◌ִּתִּוּשׁ אַ	door; you are the one it craves, and yet you can govern it."
ַסָּא רֹ מָא ⊙ְחוּישׁ מַא סָל סִלי סִרּ	

```
ַמ -בוֹ
                                  8 Cain now thought about his brother Abel... Then, when they
    :חיו
                                  were in the field, Cain turned on his brother Abel and killed
          ַה כבל
רי
                   :٦٦
্ত 🗴 ়
           ַאל-
                   2
                        ת א מַר
្រ
                         ַרַי
                                  him. 9 Then YHWH said to Cain, "Where is your bother
ַה כַבל וְחיו
                          יםתו
                    ټ٦,
           ם יִּין
ַאל- ⊙א
           ্তু জু
                          ্ েক
               ু⊙ ⊅ু
               ្រ
ּיְהוה מַּוֹין, י עָבל
                                  Abel?" And he replied, "How should I know; am I my
                       ַגה⊙ו .ט
מאל-מא קה
             ויא מר
                       ু দে েল
                       ្រ
                                  brother's keeper?" 10 And [God] said, "What have you
   ָתי, שֹׁ מַּר
                 ַחדי; א מַר לא
ে ুপ
          ४००
                 ੍ਰਾ
                           ≯ু⊙
           ್ ್
                                  done? Your brother's blood is shrieking to Me from the
    ייַוּיֹא מַמר, ה לוֹק ⊙ַד מַמי.
     ַפע שית;
                 סאנ כבי מַמּ
₹⊙
                                  ground! 11 Now you are cursed by this very soil, which has
ַמַקים כַּלי⊙ַד ⊙ַמַאה עַע ⊙ַתַּה, רוּר
              प्रंथ अ - ्रा अ
.יא וּוְ וּוּס
              מק
- פִּיה,
                                  opened its mouth to receive your brother's blood from your
       ה, ⊙ַר ⊙ַמַּה מַשר ⊙ַתַּה
ָאַת
       ুত
             X
                  জুকু⊙ - কুক্
                            X○
        ∑ু
                  מן
                                  hands. 12 When you till the soil, no longer shall it give you
    ָר .יב י
              ַמִּי וָחְדִי
                           ַחַת
ַעַבֹד
                ে ে ্⊙ -
     ्ट
           ্
           ূ ্
                    ָאת
                           ⊙ু
           മ
                                  its yield. You shall become a rootless wanderer on the earth."
       ַר ַמַּה, אׁ-תֹ פַּף יַחַּיּה
ַמַת-כֹ ִרֻּיַנ
               7
                      হ ়েন্তু -
   ्दं
                      ָאַת
   ָרץ. יגא מר יִן,
                       ್ಗ
                                  13 Cain then said to YHWH, "My punishment is too heavy
                             ٦,
      ַרָי
                  ং⊙
                       ু তু⊈
                  ंग ्र
                             ្ច្
                                  to bear! 14 Seeing as now You have expelled me from the
                  לוד בי,
ֿא ידן סַת. אֹ
                           הוה:
কে ্থ
            ַעוֹ •ִבשׂ
                      \mathfrak{D}\odot
                           ়েত
ַג יַר
            \alpha
                                  face of the soil and I must hide from Your face, I am become
       ⊙্ধুদ,
               ַעל עַני
                       יום,
                             ַחי
হা⊙ ফা ±াত ফা হাত ফা
                       70
                             X
       ⊅ু⊙
                                  a rootless wanderer on the earth, and anyone who finds me
              ָתי ע ד,
                           ָתר;
   ু⊙ ∧ু⊙
              Do Doo
                           ್ತಾ
ুদ েুদ ⊙ব
              ្ា
                     ⊅ৃ⊙
                          X
   ्ं
                     ়ে
                                  might kill me!" 15 "Not so," said YHWH. "Should anyone
ָאי, ֻגַּנִי .טוֹא מֶּרוֹל הוה, יַבּן
                     ्ः
                           מֹ ּיצ
                     কুত্
                                  עש ⊙ַב ⊙ע מאום,יי ַ ⊙קם;
על פול הוה
                      ್ ಾ
```

,גפַן גען k gave ্ i ו -ה 1 ל **ى**ڭ ©C a i n , h e \mathbf{W} 0 u 1 d b e a v e n g e d S e v e n f o 1 d . A n d Y

 $_{W}^{H}$

Н

63

Cain a sign, that none who came upon him would kill him. ָין תוֹא, אֹנת-ָחִי ু ুর ्द יַּ⊼כתוֹ ् 16 Cain then went away from before YHWH, and settled in ָוֹא .טז צַא יִן, פֵי הוה; פַ ב वृष्ट व् ाद ाव्या क्ष ্থ מׁ the Land of Nomads, east of Eden. ֶרץ-נדוֹ, פָּן ⊙ְד מַמת- מֵע ֶדן ু ু ু

Lesson Plan 9: Abraham & Sarah, Genesis 18

Value

Hospitality/Welcoming Guests – הכנסת אורכים

Context

Students should be familiar with the rituals of the class (opening and concluding) by this point and the expectation of homework is set and reinforced. This lesson will comprise the introductory lesson for the unit, with the following lesson spent engaging with the value on a deeper level.

Core Concepts

- Hospitality is a core value of Judaism, taught to us by Abraham
- There are many different types of actions that we can perform that demonstrate hospitality
- Part of being able to welcome a guest is being able to understand what the guest might be feeling.

Lesson Objectives

- Introduce the core value of hospitality
- Uncover Judaism's example of welcoming guests by meeting our biblical hero
- Identify the value to examples in our own lives
- Create a plan to bring hospitality into our week

Overview

Time	Goal	Lower Grades	Upper Grades
00-15	Build Community/	Participate in morning meeting	
	Safe space		
15-40	Introduce value	Adults put on a skit, followed	Read story about Abraham &
	Uncover example	by discussion	3 "men"
40-45	Biblical Story	Listen to story	Share story with lower grades
45-70	Identify examples	Students put on skit for	Students share stories
		parents	
70-85	Create plan	Families make a plan for your family	
		IF only older student – write a p	ersonal plan
80-90	Recap & Homework	Families share plans	
	Homework:	Post a picture or drawing of	Post a blog entry reflecting on
		being welcoming	the success of their plan

Homework for parents:

Have parents read and discuss the texts the older students will be looking at, possibly with the addition of the following text, in order to inform their own learning on the topic. If the previous lesson allows, they might study in a group then, or review the texts with a partner as homework.

The Maharal, Pathways of the World Chapter. 4

One welcomes guests because one honors the human who was created in the image of God, and this is considered to be a great thing, like rising early to go to the Beit Midrash which one does to honor the Torah.

However, when Rav Dimi says that welcoming guests is greater than rising early to the Beit Midrash, he understands it the following way: Rising early to study Torah is the way we honor Torah, but when you welcome a guest it is tantamount to honoring God. For when one brings a guest into their home and honors him because he was created in the image of God, then it is as if they are honoring the Divine presence Herself, which is greater than honoring the Torah. Know that these statements only refer to welcoming guests who are new faces to one's home.

Remember, however, that Rav said that welcoming guests is even greater than receiving the face of the Divine presence. His statement is consistent, for none can encounter the face of God directly as it is written, "No human may see My face and live." (Exodus 32:20) So, indirect contact cannot be compared to what happens when one welcomes and honors a guest who appears as a new face and the host attaches himself completely to this image of God...

Guiding Questions:

- 1) According to the text, how do the different opinions relate welcoming a guest to the study of Torah? Keep in mind that studying Torah was the center of Rabbinic life.
- 2) The text stipulates that the parallel exists only for "new faces" Do you agree? Where might they have put welcoming an old friend? Where would you put different guests in the comparison?
- 3) What does it mean to meet a new face as the "image of God" (or even as a direct encounter with God)? What would this look like in your life? In your home?
- 4) How can you help your child see each person as an image of God?

Detailed Agenda

00-15	Build Community/	Participate in Morning Meeting	None
	Safe space		

All students are together with the teacher. Parents, might use this time to review their skit for the younger students or study the above text.

- Greet students
- Check-in simchas and sorrows (each student can share a brief piece of personal news)
- Blessing for study
- Moral dilemma posed to students: At lunch, your friend gets the idea spray paint your school's mascot on your rival school's football field before the big game tomorrow. He

thinks this is a great idea and is going to buy the paint after school. You know he could get in trouble, but it would be a funny prank. Do you say something? If so, to who?

- o Remind all students that there is no "correct" answer and they should be thoughtful and deliberate in their responses.
- o Have older students sit in chevruta and discuss for a couple minutes and then write down the tensions in the situation and their response and reasoning in their journals.
- o Have younger students sit with the teacher and discuss as a group. Help students think about the consequences of various actions.

15-4	10	Introduce value	Adults put on a skit,	Read story about	Props for skit,
		Uncover Judaism's	followed by	Abraham & 3 "men"	copies of story
		example	discussion		or Tanakh

YOUNGER:

- Materials: Props for skits, means for making a list
- Allow the adults (parents, madrichim) to put on a skit (or comparable) as an example for
 welcoming a guest into their house for dinner (complete with kids if possible). The skit
 might include greeting the guest at the door, accepting a gift from the guest, introducing
 them to the rest of the family, giving a tour of the house, etc. There should be several clear
 examples of good things to do to welcome a guest.
- Review the skit with children madrichim/parents might ask the following questions:
 - o Who were the main characters in the skit?
 - o What did the characters do?
 - What value were they presenting [Welcoming guests]
 - o Have you done this kind of thing before when you had guests over?
 - o If you were the guest, how might you have felt?
 - o If you were the family, how might you have felt? Were there things that might be hard to do?
 - o How might you have felt if the host did not do [the things they listed]?
- Brainstorm a list on a poster/board of things that we already do to welcome guests

OLDER:

- Materials: Copies of story or Tanakh and texts below
- Students will sit with facilitator and read/discuss the story of Abraham welcoming the three men/angels (Genesis 18:1-15).
- Check for student understanding:
 - o What is going on the in text?
 - Who are the major characters in the story?
 - What do they do?
 - What value is presented by the text? [Welcoming guests]
 - How do Abraham and Sarah reflect this value in their own way?
 - What does it mean in the context of the Bible?

- Why is it important for the Bible to show Abraham as a good person?
- What does it mean for us?
 - What is the purpose of inviting guests?
 - Who do we invite as guests? Would you do this for a stranger?
 - What does this text teach us about welcoming guests?
 - What is Abraham and Sarah's "reward"?
 - How do you already act like Abraham in your own life?
 - What of Abraham's behavior would you like to adopt into your life?
- If the students' abilities allow, you might use the following Rashi

At the entrance of the tent: to see whether there were any passersby whom he would bring into his house. — [from B. M. 86b]

When the day was hot: (B.M. 86b) The Holy One, blessed be He, hid the sun so as not to trouble him with passerbys, but since He saw that Abraham was troubled that no one was | שראהו מצטער שלא היו אורחים באים, coming, He brought the angels to him in the likeness of men.

- [from Gen. Rabbah 48:9, Exod. Rabbah 25:2]

פתחלהאה: ַלראות אם יש עובר ושב ויכניסם בביתו:

כחום מויה: יהוציא הקב"ה חמה מנרתיקה שלא להטריחו באורחים, ולפי :הביא המלאכים עליו בדמות אנשים

- Possible guiding questions
 - o What does Rashi's first comment add to the story? Why was Abraham sitting outside?
 - o In Rashi's second comment, what is going on? How do the God and Abraham react? Does this make Abraham's gesture towards the guests more profound?
- Choose how to present the story to younger students
 - Options might include a skit, telling the story, using puppets, making illustrations, etc.

40-45	Biblical Hero	Listen to story	Share story with	None
			lower grades	

Have the older students present the biblical story to the younger students on the basis of their study.

45-70	Identify examples	Students put on skit	Students share	None
		for parents	stories	

YOUNGER:

- Have younger students identify how Abraham acted like their parents in the parents' skit.
- Have younger students act out examples of how to welcome new members/guests, where they switch who is the newbie. Begin by reenacting times they have already welcomed guests, and continue with new examples of things they could do in the future.

- o 1. Welcoming a new student into their class at school
- 2. Their new friend is coming over to play (and doesn't want to play the same game as you)
- o 3. They see someone new at synagogue that they don't know
- Have students identify good things in their skits

OLDER:

- For additional discussion:
 - o B. Shabbat 127b:
 - Mishnah: One is allowed to remove four or five large bundles of straw or wheat in order to make room for guests on Shabbat and to prevent people from leaving the learning community on Shabbat because of being overcrowded.
 - Gemara: Rabbi Yochanan said, "Welcoming guests is as great as rising early to go to the Beit Midrash (communal study hall), as it is taught in the Mishnah: "In order to make room for guests on Shabbat and to prevent people from leaving the Beit Midrash." Rabbi Dimi from Nahardea said, "Welcoming guests is greater, because the Mishnah teaches it first and then talks about making room for students."
 - Guiding Questions
 - What do we know about the Rabbis, studying and Shabbat? [they like to study and the action given would not be acceptable on Shabbat, which is very important]
 - So what does this passage teach us about hospitality?
 - What assumptions are they making about Shabbat?
 - What is the relationship between Shabbat and hospitality?
- Have older students share a story of times when they were welcomed by a group (or weren't welcomed by a group.
 - o How did this make them feel?
 - o What would they have done differently if they were the one doing the welcoming?

70-85	Create plan	Families make a plan for your family	None
		IF only older student – write a personal plan	

FAMILIES WORKING TOGETHER

- Make a plan for how you might be able to welcome a guest into your house, or in another setting (preferably that could be used prior to the following session)
- Consider:
 - o How have we acted like Abraham in the past? What behaviors can we learn from Abraham?

- o How can we make our guest feel most comfortable?
- o How can we balance our own needs with our guest's needs?

85-90	Recap &	Review, questions, comments		
	Homework			
	Homework:	Post a picture or	Post a blog entry	
		drawing of being	reflecting on the	
		welcoming	success of their plan	

- Have a few minutes for clarifications, questions, final comments
- Give homework assignment (verbal or written)
- Closing: share (verbal or written) one thing you are taking away about hospitality that you learned today

Genesis 18:1-18:15 – Abraham & Sarah

Who is at the Door?

Translation from the Women's Torah Commentary

ירא יו הוה, יַני יַרא; וּהא סָּל יוּ הוה, יַני יַרא; וּהא א יַני יַכּרא; וּהא אַ יַני יַכּרא יוּ הוה, יַני יַכּרא יוּ אַני יַני יַני יַני יַני יַני יַני יַני	1 YHWH appeared to him [Abraham] at the oaks of Mamre
ישב יּהָאֹ הָדּל, הֹם יום יַּיִי א י נפיַתח- ייִבּ יַהַּ בּיַשָּ	as he was sitting at the entrance of the tent at about the hottest
יו, יָהְיבֶּה לשה יִשִּים, יִבִּים פּיָנ פּיְר פּיְש מָאפּיִנ פּעָּ יַעִי פַיּרָא, יַנ יַנִי	time of the day. 2 Looking up, he saw: lo—Three men
יו; א, ץ אתם מַחוֹא שָּל, ⊙פָּל ⊙רְר ⊙יָר יִמִּי מָּ סִּהְ ⊙פָע טַיַי סִי פִּל סִיקְּ טַ	standing opposite him! Seeing [them], he ran from the
מַתחוּ, פּעָדה מַיֹּא מַּר: י, פּעָדא יִסִישְׁ פּיְר ג'דֹפּעָ מִאם- מַ פּמָא מָא	entrance of the tent to meet them, and, bowing down to the
אתי ןיַאל-יּינָדא מֲעֹבֹר, עַעל ייָצ מַח ייִרב עַעֶינְדִי יַתּח מֵמ ייָמָמ	ground, 3 he said, "My lords, if I have found favor in your
ֶר פַּחָה- ּטָגא - מַמְים, מְּזצׁיוּ יֶד יֻ יּמְמַעט יַר יּבְב יִי יַע	sight, please do not pass your servant by. 4 Let a little water
्रेष क्ष्यः क्ष्मम्म धः, क्रात व्यप् क्षा ्क्रा ्रा ्रा ्रा ्रा ्रा ्रा ्रा ्रा ्रा ्रा ्रा ्रा	be brought; then wash your feet and recline under a tree, 5 and
ין פס וד פסם, פחר בורפכי- פל פחם בע יקב פא פח בע פחת פל	let me bring a bit of bread and you can restore yourselves.
בפּן סָתם, סיְד פָּם; סּמְּוּר, ן - מַעל מַבּסיְר - מַע סיְבּ טִיּיא מֵבּ מֲע מַעל	Then you can go on – now that you have come across your
ַעַ הְאַר רִרָעַ⊙ּרְיּסָת. מַעָּשׁ עַעָּש	servant." And they responded: "Very well, do as you
ַמַּ מָּרר ּ ַּמָּהם ּ ַּלֶּה, - ה; וּ ַיַּרּ ּיִּךְ אִׁ מֶּאל ּ ַיָּר יַא ּ ִיְבּ ַ יַּתָּ ּ ַּמָּאׁ	propose."
רי 'לש יאים מַח לֶּת תְּ יִשְׁ יִסְים לֶּקּ סֹ	ַוּיֹא שֶּר,

```
hurried toward the tent, to Sarah, and said,
6
            bra ha
                       m
                            then
                        עליי
                             ישול,
                                    "Hurry, knead three measures of wheat flour and bake some
    ַמַ ⊙ַמַר,
                   גתו
                        ু ফু
 ַז וּיָן אָל-יּיָר.
                   V.
                                    [bread-]cakes!" 7 Abraham then ran to the herd and took a
 ַמָּך ְך טוֹב, מַתוֹ ַּ
                      ्युत
                           ্দ্রন:
           ್ತ್ ತ್⊙ -
                      ್ರ ಶಾ
 ្
              يدر
                           ⊅⊙ K∂
         עַתושׁ אֹתוּ
                                    young calf, tender and sound, and gave it to the servant lad,
 ़ ज़ुत
                   ָּגַר,
                          ַת עַר,
             رکر
                   2
                          ֶאל- וַה
 ੂ ਜ.
                   ंop
                                    who quickly prepared it. 8 He took sour milk and [sweet] milk
               וּ עֶבן- עַה ּינַבּ יּנַקּר
         Y TW
               ্ণ েলা েলু⊏,
 ्रधंत,
               ুল ্লে ্সেন
                                    and the calf he had prepared and set [it all] before them; and
 ַחַת מַץ,
           -ע פוד פיהם
                           פיהם;
 ್ತ್ ೧
           <u>V</u>
                ָ ואוה
                            ्ट
                                    as he stood over them under the tree, they ate.
          יו,
                            ਼ਾਂ
                ַויא ⊙ַמוּר
      ್ಣ
           ्दं
 ু ়
                            א פול
                ช.
           Ķ
 w.
                             ַרָי
                                    9 They then said to him, "Where is your wife Sarah?" "There
 ַויֹא מֶר,
           ַסַתַּרָ; אׁ עַמּר, עַה אֹ הַּגֹּל
                            W) ·
           D.
                ַסִי הָה
                            N
                              in the tent, "he replied. 10 One of them then said, "Rest
 ה, פַה-פַן,
                        ושב
              ֶּלֶּדִי עֵת
 ্ত ্রা
              ু ত
                        ₹⊙
         P
                      קר, אָרָר; ה מֶתּבָר; assured that I will return to you at this time next year, and your
                     שַי אָי יַס wife Sarah shall have a son."
 אוה
       אׄיַּגל,
               AL.
 ्ं
       ⊅ু⊙
               5
                     מ עת
                     Ċ۷
                             ৾৺
                             7
                             ्ट
                             V2:
                                    Now Sarah was listening at the entrance of the tent, behind
 ַהַ בּוֹ הַ נִים, כְאים וּ
                             ַריו
            ÇX ⊙ÇE ⊙Çr ⊙Çr
 تٍ ⊙وَد
                             D KO
            יא ⊙ְר ⊙ַשׂ.
      ়েত
                      ਼ੂਰ
                                    him. 11 Abraham and Sarah were old, well advanced in years;
           יתוֹ⊙ֻל
                            מים;
 רח
       ٦,
 X
       ું
               ्र
                      PO
                            ুত ফু
               رکر
د
       ₩.
                                    the way of women had ceased for Sarah—12 so Sarah laughed
 ⊙्ट⊙त
                       יב.
                            שים
         ٦٦,
               M2
 ्ं
         ಾರ
                            j.
                                    inwardly, thinking: "Now that I am withered, will I have
               ুত
                      ַרי
 2
         ₩॒
                             <u>)</u>
                      Ŋ
                ा ल
 ्ट
        - פלי
                            :מר
                      Χ
                לתי.
 ্কুনে ্রুন,
                            ַלא
       ্ ক্ত
 ्र
 Ÿ.
                                                72
```

הוה, מָאל

्∙

ַױ א מַ

```
pl
۲٦.
           ָיני
     בון
     ្្
            ַראד
                  ea
                  su
                  re
                  wi
                  th
                  m
                  y
                  lo
                  rd
                  SO
                  ol
                  d!
                  13
                  В
                  ut
                  Y
                  Η
                  W
                  Η
                  sa
                  id
                  to
 מׄר,
                                   Abraham, "Why is Sarah laughing so, thinking: 'Am I really
            त त ⊙्दुत
                          ্দ্র:
 ַלא
       ু কু
                  ় ফু
                          ्ु
       ুফু ⊙্ফু
                     ⊙ুর
                          ু েতু
                                   going to bear a child, when I have grown so old?' 14 Is any
                             אַף
       ם ַּמַאַני חָתי.יד
          ুদ ⊙্র প্রে লে-- ়া
 ÐŌ
 ়ম়
          رح
                        ≎়⊙
                        X
          ূ্
                                   wonder too difficult for YHWH? At this fixed time, next year,
ושב לֶּדִי, עַת
                      ٦;
                           הוה,
                      ঠা⊙ ্ তা
           ⊁ু⊙
                      ्र
          יול הן.טוַפַ מַזש --⊙ול ה
                                   I will return to you, and Sarah shall have a son." 15 Sarah,
      ्र ⊙्र ⊙्र
                    ्ट्रा ्ट द्व
                       া েয়ে
      ₩:
                               then denied it, for she was afraid, and said, "I did not laught";
    ה; א מר לא,
                    ָּחַי, י
ַןי כָּ
              ⊁ৃ⊙
                    ুল েবু হে
              ਼ਾ
                       ₹⊙
               . กุ อ คุ อ คุ อ ซุ อ but [God] said, "Ah, but you did laugh!"
```

Works Cited

- Chai Curriculum. (n.d.). Retrieved from http://chai.urj.org/Articles/index.cfm?id=1042
- Deam, J. (2011, June 12). A one-room school fit for 21st century. *LA Times*. Retrieved from articles.latimes.com
- Eliades, A. (2013, 12 3). Temple Beth El President. (T. Hughes, Interviewer)
- Fuller, W. (1994). One-Room Schools of the Middle West. University of Kansas.
- Greenberg, R. J. (1989). Surviving in the One-Room Schoolhouse. In *Reconstructing Jewish Education: A Process Guide.*
- Gulliford, A. (1991). America's Country Schools. Preservation Point.
- Hawkes, N. (n.d.). What is Values-based Education. Retrieved from values-education.com/downloads/what_is.pdf
- Huebner, T. A. (2010, February). What Research Says About... Differentiated Learning. *Meeting Students Where They Are, 67*(5), 79-81. Retrieved from http://www.ascd.org/publications/educational-leadership/feb10/vol67/num05/Differentiated-Learning.aspx
- International Values-based Education Trust. (n.d.). Retrieved from Values-Based Education: valuesbasededucation.com
- ISJL. (n.d.). *ISJL Education Department*. Retrieved from Institute for Southern Jewish Life: http://www.isjl.org/education/index.html
- Kaesshaefer, M. (n.d.). Tales from a one-room schoolhouse. Retrieved from http://www.scholastic.com/teachers/article/tales-one-room-schoolhouse
- Morning Meeting Components. (n.d.). Retrieved from Responsive Classroom: https://www.responsiveclassroom.org/morning-meeting-components
- Ormrod, T. M. (2010). Child Development and Education. Merrill.
- Rocheleau, P. (2003). The One-Room Schoolhouse Today. In P. Rocheleau, *The One-Room Schoolhouse:*A Tribute to a Beloved National Icon (pp. 178-205). New York: Universe Publishing.
- Rosman, S. M. (1990). God Dwells in the Story. In R. N. Levy, *Teaching about God and Spirituality: A Resource for Jewish Settings*. Behrman House Publishing.
- Search Institute: Developmental Relationships. (n.d.). Retrieved from Search Institute: http://www.search-institute.org/research/developmental-relationships

Swidler, S. (n.d.). Naturally Small: Teaching and Learning in the Last One-Room Schools.

URJ Small Congregations. (n.d.). Retrieved from Union for Reform Judaism: http://urj.org/cong/small/

Wilgoren, J. (2000, August 6). The one-room schoolhouse. *The New York Times*. Retrieved from nytimes.com

Wood, C. (2007). Yardsticks: Children in the Classroom Ages 4-14. Northeast Foundation for Children.